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Internet
You are welcome to study the latest information
about the Trelleborg Group and its operations at:
www.trelleborg.com

More information about Trelleborg AB
You can order printed information materials by calling +46 (0) 410-670 09, or by e-mailing info@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg AB will provide the following financial
information in financial year 2003
Interim report January-March April 24
Interim report January-June July 22
Interim report January-September October 22
Preliminary year-end report for 2003 February 5, 2004
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Solid strategic platform
Trelleborg’s operations are based on four
strategic cornerstones that also serve as guide-
lines for the Group’s continued expansion:

•focused operations

•leading positions within attractive
segments

•decentralized organization

•strongly results-oriented

This is Trelleborg
Trelleborg is a global industrial group that develops and manufac-

tures products based mainly on the many areas of application for

rubber. The Group has approximately 15,000 employees in 40 coun-

tries. The head office is located in Trelleborg, Sweden. Trelleborg’s

President and CEO is Fredrik Arp and Anders Narvinger is Board

Chairman.

Trelleborg was founded in 1905 and during the company’s long

history it has built up a unique spearhead competence within the

field of polymer materials and their areas of application. In recent

years, Trelleborg’s operations have been successfully concentrated

to four core industrial business areas within which the Group’s

knowledge of customer requirements and polymer technology is a

common strength factor. Today, operations focus on customers in the

automotive industry and in the construction and infrastructure sectors.

Trelleborg strives to achieve market leadership within clearly defined

product and market areas. Today, approximately 80% of sales from

core operations derives from products with leading (first, second,

third) positions.

Trelleborg Building Systems
Provides products for sealing and insulation
applications in primarily the European building
market, but also the consumer market.
Read more on page 34.

Trelleborg Automotive
Focuses on noise- and vibration-damping
products and systems for primarily the
global automotive industry, a sector in
which Trelleborg is a world leader.
Read more on page 20.

Trelleborg Wheel Systems
Active within two segments: solid tires for
heavy-lift trucks and other materials-handling
equipment, and special tires for the farm
and forest machine markets.
Read more on page 26.

S ummar y
The Trel leborg Group

Trelleborg Engineered
Systems
Supplies industrial fluid systems and engi-
neered solutions to several market seg-
ments, including the infrastructure, oil and
offshore markets. Read more on page 30.
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Consumer profiles •
Industrial profiles •
Rubber membranes •

Industrial hose •
Industrial hose
– distribution •
Marine fenders • • •
Rubber sheeting •
Dredging hose systems • • •
Tunnel seals • •
Chemical-resistant suits • • •

Agricultural tires •
Solid industrial tires • • •

Automotive AVS • • •
Industrial AVS • • •
Brake shims • • •
Boots • • •

The Trel leborg Group wor ldwide

Addresses

Group Center
Trelleborg AB (publ)
P.O. Box 153
SE-231 22 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 2
Phone: +46 410–670 00
Fax: +46 410–427 63
Internet: www.trelleborg.com
e-mail: info@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Treasury
P.O. Box 7365
SE-103 90 Stockholm
Street address: Norrlandsgatan 20
Phone: +46 8– 440 35 00
Fax: +46 8–440 35 48
e-mail: treasury@trelleborg.com

Group Center

• Trelleborg Automotive

• Trelleborg Wheel Systems

• Trelleborg Engineered Systems

• Trelleborg Building Systems

Business areas
Trelleborg Automotive
400 Aylworth Avenue
US-South Haven, MI 49090, USA
Phone: +1 (1) 616 637 2116
Fax: +1 (1) 616 637 8315
e-mail: automotive@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Wheel Systems
Via Naz, Tiburtina, 143
IT-00010 Villa Adriana (Roma), Italy
Phone: +39 0774 38 41
Fax: +39 0774 38 48 02
e-mail: wheel.systems@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Engineered Systems
SE-231 81 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 1
Phone: +46 410–510 00
Fax: +46 410–71 15 21
e-mail: engineered.systems@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Building Systems
SE-231 81 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 1
Phone: +46 410–510 00
Fax: +46 410–189 81
e-mail: building.systems@trelleborg.com

Based on its extensive knowledge of polymer technolo-
gy, markets and customers, Trelleborg develops, manu-
factures and markets functionally oriented products,
systems and services.

Objective
Trelleborg’s goal is to capture leading
positions and create economies of scale
within the areas of research and develop-
ment, production, marketing and service.

Vision

Business
   concept

The Trelleborg share
Trelleborg’s B shares have been traded on the A List
of Stockholmsbörsen since 1964.

Trelleborg’s vision is to be one of the leading global engineering
companies within primarily the polymer area by offering:

•its customers products, systems and services of the highest
total value

•its employees a stimulating work environment in which to develop

•its shareholders a favorable long-term return on their investment

business areas

* Core operations   ** Core operations, excluding Group-wide expenses.
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2002 2001

Net sales, SEK M 17,630 18,760
Operating profit, excluding non-comparable items, SEK M 1,021 1,134

Profit after financial items, excluding non-comparable items, SEK M 902 976
Operating cash flow. SEK M 1,036 1,395

Return on capital employed, excl. goodwill amortization, % 11.7 12.2
Return on shareholders’ equity, % 5.5 6.3
Return on shareholders’ equity, excl. non-comparable items, % 8,3 8,9
Equity/assets ratio, % 48.1 44.2

Earnings per share (EPS), SEK 4.75 5.35
EPS, excluding non-comparable items, SEK 7.25 7.45
EPS after dilution, SEK 4.65 5.20

Shareholders’ equity per share, SEK 87.05 88.70

Financial assets, minus liabilities SEK M –2,962 –3,267

Debt/equity ratio, % 40.0 41.7

Investments in plant, SEK M –739 642

Average no. of employees 14,885 16,179

Dividend per Series A and Series B share, SEK   1) 4,25 4.00

Market price at December 31, Series B share, SEK 70.50 80.50

Number of shares outstanding on Dec. 31, excluding
holding of own shares 83,686,772 86,646,572

1) For 2002, as proposed by the President and Board of Directors.
For definitions, see page 81.

Acquisition of operations in Seaward International Inc strength-
ened Trelleborg’s position within marine fender systems.

Expansion of production unit in Kalmar. New plant for production
of the applied damping material Duru-Lam for mainly auto
manufacturers.

New unit established for manufacture of products with industrial
antivibration applications in Leicester, UK.

International cooperation agreement with JP Stevens, the leading
manufacturer of TPO products for roof- and ground-covering appli-
cations in the US.

Comprehensive restructuring and efficiency-enhancement program
conducted within Trelleborg Wheel Systems.

Number of Group employees reduced by approximately 1,000,
excluding divestments.

Operations within Metech International Inc sold.

Trelleborg White Goods divested.

The past year

2002

Key figures
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Group CEO Fredrik Arp:

  “Our focus on core
operations is the basis
      for increased

competit iveness

   growth”
and continued
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C o m m e n t s  b y  t h e  C E O

This position was further strengthened during the year. Among
other aspects, this is reflected by the growing number of develop-
ment projects for which we are selected, which should result in
better future growth.

With the exception of surprisingly strong vehicle production
in the US, the trend in our main markets remained sluggish during
the year. Weak volumes and increasing raw material prices char-
acterized the trend in all business areas. To a large extent this was
offset by improved productivity and continued integration gains.

Core operations during the year
Considering the market conditions, I therefore feel that a pretax
profit before non-comparable items of SEK 902 M can be regarded as
satisfactory and was the result of a comprehensive program of inter-
nal measures within both the development and cost-efficiency areas.

The work to integrate acquired operations in the Group’s
largest business area, Automotive, continued according to plan.
A production unit was closed down in the United Kingdom and
certain production operations in Germany were transferred to
units in Spain and Turkey. To meet the weak market conditions,
personnel adjustments were made affecting about 500 employees.

Improved productivity and continued synergies were able to
mainly compensate the weak trend of volumes in Europe.

A number of new products were introduced during the year.
A good example is the flexible engine mount, which combines
hydraulics with traditional materials and was delivered to several
vehicle manufacturers, including Audi.

The cooperation agreement signed with Japanese company
Tokai bore fruit during the year and resulted in several orders,
including a components order for the new Nissan Terrano.

A new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system was
launched in the business area’s European operations. The joint
ERP system will simplify ongoing integration routines and support
the organizational structure of the business area.

“We have improved Group

competitiveness through

continued cost-efficiency

measures.”

“

To our shareholders:
Despite the weak economic climate, the past year provided the
Trelleborg Group with a number of bright spots. A whole program
of internal measures will have a sustained positive effect on
our operations.

Group competitiveness was improved as a result of continued
cost-efficiency measures. Trelleborg was also strengthened strate-
gically and continued the successful integration of acquired assets,
while simultaneously increasing its status among prioritized cus-
tomers. The majority of the Group’s customers regard Trelleborg
as the preferred choice, when it comes to technological solutions
and development partners.
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The roll-out of the business area’s joint electronic purchasing
system continued in 2002. This system has enabled the number
of external suppliers to be reduced and has increased purchasing
efficiency.

During the year, two new production plants were completed
for the business area. In Sweden, a new line for the manufacture
of ADM (Applied Damping Material) products was placed in
operation in Kalmar. Major interest is being shown in the new
material. During the fourth quarter, a modern, efficient plant
for the manufacture of products with industrial antivibration
applications was started up in Leicester, UK, replacing an older
plant at the same location.

Sales and operating profit for the Trelleborg Engineered
Systems business area rose for the second successive year. A long-
term rationalization program coupled with strategically correct
acquisitions, as exemplified by the acquisition of the marine
fender operations in Seaward Inc in the US, took the business
area several steps closer toward the achievement of the Group’s
return target. The focus on products with a high technological
content and a broader product range for infrastructure projects
is now also beginning to bear fruit. Several successful product
launches were made during 2002, including the Trelline hose
system for the extraction of oil from deep water.

The Building Systems business area also increased its sales
and operating profit in 2002. Marketing  investments, continued
rationalization measures and the full effect of the Phønix Tag
acquisition were the main reasons underlying this success. Two
important roofing materials alliances, with JP Stevens in the
US and Isola in Norway, opened the way for future growth in
the business area. During the year, Building Systems also
established a partnership with a leading window producer to
increase sealing profiles coverage in Europe.

Trelleborg Wheel Systems, the most cyclical of the Group’s
four business areas, experienced a tough year in 2002, with falls
of up to 30% in certain sub-markets. During 2002, our most
important markets stabilized, however, at a relatively low level.
An extensive restructuring program was successfully implemented
during the year, the effects of which led to the business area
reporting an increase in earnings, compared with the preceding
year. The product portfolio within forest tires was also strength-
ened during the year through the launch of a new series of
products in the European market. As a result, the business area
successfully strengthened its market shares within radial farm

tires in Europe and within the industrial tires segment in North
America, despite tough competition.

It is also gratifying to note that the focused efforts made
by all of the business areas enabled the Group to reach its cash-
flow target in 2002, which is a cash flow from operations that
is in line with operating profit.

Unfortunately, 2002 was another year of sharp reductions
in the Trelleborg workforce. During the most recent two years,
the Group has reduced its personnel by approximately 2,000
persons. Personnel reductions in association with efficiency-
enhancement measures are a necessary and continuous part of
our function as a supplier. It is my hope that we can return to
a more normal situation in future years, however.

Few assets outside the core business
At year-end, assets outside the Group’s core business accounted
for less that 4% of total net assets. During the year, the operations
of metals-recovery company Metech International Inc and
Trelleborg White Goods were sold. Non-comparable items
attributable to these divestments had an adverse effect of SEK 43 M
on operating profit for the year.

Outside the core business, the Trelleborg Group now has
only its holdings in the Trenor Group (49%) and Boliden (6%).
During the year, the Trenor holding generated a positive pretax
impact on earnings of SEK 83 M. The book value was SEK 240 M.
The Trenor Group consists of Bröderna Edstrand, Reynolds and
the heating/ventilation/sanitation supplier and electrical whole-
saler Ahlsell. During the year, most of the necessary preparation
work was completed for a possible future listing of Ahlsell.

The Boliden holding had an adverse effect of SEK 159 M
on Trelleborg’s earnings for the year.

Share buy-back program has positive effect on
earnings per share
To normalize the balance sheet and achieve the Group’s return-
on-equity target, we have conducted extensive buy-backs of our
own shares since year 2000. At the 2002 Annual General Meeting
our mandate to repurchase up to 10% of the shares outstanding
in the period up to the 2003 AGM was extended. During 2002,
an additional 2,959,800 shares were repurchased. As a conse-
quence of the share repurchases in recent years, the number of
shares outstanding has been drastically reduced, which has had
a favorable impact on earnings per share, after financial expense.

“Our strong f inancial

resources inspire a high

degree of confidence and

enable customers to per-

ceive us as a stable and

reliable business par tner.”

“
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C o m m e n t s  b y  t h e  C E O

“In the prevailing business

climate, organic growth is

becoming an increasingly

impor tant goal.”

“

Strong financial position creates opportunities
Ever since Trelleborg commenced its strategy to concentrate
operations to the current core business, the Group has had a
solid financial position.

Our strong financial resources inspire a high degree of
confidence and enable customers to perceive us as a stable and
reliable business partner. Our strong ties with customers enable
us, in turn, to grow organically. Accordingly, each of our business
areas is currently prioritizing not only product development
and market penetration, but also new systems and functional
solutions plus a broader approach to work in the aftermarket
area. Given the prevailing business climate, organic growth is
becoming an increasingly important goal.

However, a strong financial position also provides us with
the prerequisites to acquire operations that will strengthen us
geographically, or in terms of products, in line with our estab-
lished strategy.

Growth to take precedence over repurchase of shares
During the year, the Trelleborg Board further clarified our
ambitions in regard to the Group’s financial structure and
strategic direction.

In future, the Group will assign priority to growth rather
than to additional share buy-back programs. Our debt/equity
ratio is now within what may be considered a reasonable interval,
assuming that the expansion opportunities identified in our
core business areas are fully exploited. The increasing globaliza-
tion of operations in these core areas, and the intensified level
of competition, demand that the scale of everything that we
undertake must be gradually increased – from technology and
development to a broadened product range and improved geo-
graphical coverage. Accordingly, in order to continue to partici-
pate in the ongoing consolidation in many of our markets, it is
important that we maintain a strong financial position.

Based on the product areas within our core business areas,
we intend to seek expansion in three dimensions. We shall seek
related products that offer good growth potential and which
strengthen the range that can be offered to the same customers.
We shall develop functional solutions that generate more scope
for development, service and customers in the aftermarket.
And we shall strengthen our current positions within areas that
will allow us to achieve advantages of scale, greater competitiveness
and/or improved geographical coverage.

Here, it must be noted that the availability of the type of
quality assets that would provide us with the potential to achieve
a favorable future return, was very limited in 2002.

At the same time, our many contacts, discussions and
negotiations with different market players during the past year
gave us the opportunity to clarify our acquisition strategies and
we have created an even better idea of how we want to grow
when the climate for acquisition-driven growth improves.

Europe and the United States will continue to be our most
important markets. But our aim is to also increase our presence
in terms of market shares in both Asia and new markets, such
as Eastern Europe.

At the same time, we shall endeavor in future to maintain

a favorable balance between the automotive and industrial/
building customer segments.

Priorities and market prospects in 2003
Industrial production is expected to make a weak start to the
year, with gradually stronger development probably in the second
half of 2003. Vehicle production is expected to be somewhat
weaker than the preceding year, both in the US and Europe.
It is hoped that 2002 will be the final weak year of this business
cycle and that a growth phase can gain momentum towards the
end of the year.

Trelleborg is implementing a number of measures to meet the
uncertainty surrounding economic conditions, primarily with
regard to volume growth in the American automotive market
and demand in the European industrial sector. We intend to
continue to focus on cost efficiency and a favorable cash flow.
All business areas have initiated or planned measures to improve
the operating margin. These measures will generate marginal
improvements corresponding to about 1 percentage point
within 12-24 months. In addition, today’s higher level of raw
material prices offers potential for improvement if the weak
economic conditions remain unchanged. Comprehensive efforts
will be made in all business areas to increase organic growth.

In parallel with the efforts outlined above, work is also in
progress in accordance with an established strategy to strengthen
the Group’s positions via the acquisition of operations.

Extraordinary contributions
Extraordinary contributions were made at many levels to
strengthen our operations during a weak business climate in
2002. Outstanding efforts were made by many individuals and
I would like to take this opportunity to express my thanks to
Group colleagues everywhere for the fighting spirit they dem-
onstrated during 2002.

Welcome to a new and exciting year of operations!

Fredrik Arp
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Business concept
Based on its extensive knowledge
of polymer technology, markets
and customers, Trelleborg develops,
manufactures and markets func-
tionally oriented products, systems
and services.

Vision
Trelleborg’s vision is to be one of the lead-
ing global industrial companies within pri-
marily the polymer area by offering:

•our customers products, systems and
services of the highest total value

•our employees a stimulating work
environment in which to develop

•our shareholders a favorable long-
term return on their investment

Business concept,

Objective
Vision and
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Objective
Trelleborg’s goal is to
capture leading positions
and create economies of
scale within the areas of
research and development,
production, marketing and
service.

Financial targets and results in 2002
Growth targets
Trelleborg is generally active in mature markets. The Group’s aim is to
achieve annual growth of 15-20 percent during an economic cycle,
primarily through the acquisition of companies in areas of technology
and markets that complement and strengthen its operations and through
which synergies contribute to the achievement of financial targets.

An average of 5 percentage points of the growth target shall be achieved
through organic growth, based on in-house product development, among
other factors.

During 2002, organic growth in our main markets
            was limited by a negative macroeconomic trend

    worldwide, which also affected the market
        for company acquisitions.

B u s i n e s s  c o n c e p t ,  V i s i o n  a n d  O b j e c t i v e

Financial targets

Operating profit, core operations1)Net sales, core operations

The goal is that the Group’s operating cash flow should be

in line with operating profit, excluding participation in the

results of associated companies and non-comparable items.

In 2002, the target was more than achieved because invest-

ments for the year were less than the level of depreciation

and working capital was released.

In terms of capital structure, the Group’s long-term goal is

that net indebtedness in relation to shareholders’ equity

should be in the interval of 75 to 125%. This debt/equity

ratio is considered to provide a reasonable balance between

the return requirement and financial stability.

The return on shareholders’ equity, excluding non-compa-

rable items, shall correspond to a risk-free return plus a

reasonable risk premium. The target during an economic

cycle is set at 15%, after tax. The capital structure, with a

high proportion of shareholders’ equity, and the lower oper-

ating return led to this target not being reached in 2002.

The return requirement on capital employed is 15% before

goodwill amortization. The negative macroeconomic trend

combined with the Group’s efficiency-enhancement program

not reaching maximal effect during the year were factors

that affected the outcome in 2002.

SEK M

19991998 2000 2001 2002

Average growth: 16%

1) Excluding Group-wide expenses
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Trelleborg’s operations are based on four strategic cornerstones.
They are designed to position Trelleborg as a leading company
within the product areas and markets that offer the greatest
potential for the Group to realize its growth and financial
objectives. They act as guidelines over the short and medium
term for how the organization and resources should be distrib-
uted in the work to meet the expectations of current and pro-
spective customers.

 Focused operations
The focal point of Trelleborg’s operations is the customer and
meeting customer needs. In recent years, operations have been
successfully repositioned to focus on four core industrial business
areas within which the Group’s knowledge of customer require-
ments and polymer technology is a common strength factor.
Today, operations focus on the automotive industry and the
construction and other industrial sectors. The approach is
global, with the emphasis on Europe and the United States.
The focus on close customer proximity requires a high level of
innovation, particularly in regard to developing combinations
of polymers and other materials, including various metals.

 Leading positions in attractive segments
Trelleborg strives to achieve market leadership within clearly
defined product and market areas. Today, approximately 80%
of sales from core operations derives from products with leading
(first, second, third) positions. The attractiveness of markets is
measured continuously and is determined by such factors as size,
growth rate, profitability and competitive situation. Trelleborg’s
market position is decided by such factors as product range,
market share, profitability, growth and competitive advantages,
especially in the area of technological solutions.

 Decentralized organization
Trelleborg has a decentralized organization. It is motivated and
governed by clear objectives and a common and well-developed
reporting system to ensure uniform and rapid information
flows. One of the guiding principles underlying both objectives

Solid
strategic

and operational

and management is cost efficiency. Another important factor is
a common culture and core values to support the work to achieve
the Group’s established goals. This code has been formulated
in the form of four core values: customer focus, performance,
innovation and responsibility.

 Strongly results-oriented
Trelleborg endeavors to achieve good results in all areas of its
operations. The premise is clearly defined objectives anchored
in realistic assessments of opportunities and resource
requirements, and the support of both management
and personnel. Results are systematically followed up
and measured against relevant internal and external
references. A number of key factors are decisive
for the favorable results achieved by the
Group’s business operations, namely: cost-
efficient manufacturing, synergies in the
areas of purchasing and materials flow,
research and development conducted
in close cooperation with customers,
and global coverage combined
with local presence.

1

2

3

4

platform
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Well posit ioned for continued

profitable
growth
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Basic requirements in place
During the past four years, Trelleborg has successfully
repositioned itself and concentrated operations to focus
on an industrial core of four business areas based on the
Group’s in-depth knowledge of customer requirements
and polymer technology. During the same period, these
same core operations have expanded by an average of
22% per year. Operating profit has increased at the
same rate. Most of the growth has been achieved
through acquisitions. The acquisition of operations is
a well-established competence, which is conducted
systematically in cooperation between Group man-
agement, the business areas and Group staff units.
Acquisitions shall support the building of suffi-
cient critical mass in attractive markets to attain
leading positions. They shall also contribute
new technology, service know-how, provide
synergies and have the potential to meet the
Group’s profitability targets over the medium
term. Trelleborg’s financial strength provides
substantial scope for making acquisitions. As
a result, the Group is one of the few indus-
trial players with the potential to participate
proactively in the consolidation of its indus-
try. At the same time, the Group is focusing
on achieving organic growth by cooper-
ating closely with customers to research
and develop new functional solutions
and by entering new geographical
markets and customer segments.

Expanded growth horizon
Trelleborg’s four strategic cornerstones
create the guidelines needed for
continued expansion. Future
growth opportunities are seen in
the combination of polymers
with other materials and in non-
polymer materials. This trend is

being driven by the need for new customer solutions and the
development of new technologies and products. The expansion
process progresses in stages. It can start with a specialist knowl-
edge of components. It can be broadened to take in closely related
and profitable product niches that are created through synergies
achieved with other product areas in the Group. From this base,
expansion can continue through the development of products
and skills that can result in applications for an entire sector and
increased value for customers. Using this model, Trelleborg’s
growth horizon can be constantly expanded.

Balance between organic and acquired growth
Trelleborg always strives to achieve long-term balance between
risks and opportunities. The aim is to reach such a balance both
geographically and between different industries and sectors.
Similarly, the Group endeavors to attain a balance between its
organic and acquired growth. In general, Trelleborg’s markets
can be described as mature. But the Group is investing purpose-
fully in research and development and to promote an entrepre-
neurial spirit to increase the number of attractive niches. In recent
years, such investments have generated new areas of business
characterized by high growth and profitability. This prioritized
organic expansion will be complemented with acquisitions and
alliances as a rapid method of securing unique competence and
strong market positions.

Product
Single component

Niche
System

Market
Complete customer solution

S t r a t e g i e s
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Share
2002

The Trel leborg

Trelleborg’s Series B shares have been
traded on OM Stockholmsbörsen (the
Stockholm Exchange) since 1964.

The share capital in Trelleborg AB
amounts to SEK 2,265 M, represented by
90,607,372 shares, each with a par value
of SEK 25. Trelleborg has two share
classes: 9,500,000 Series A shares and
81,107,372 Series B shares. Series A
shares each carry 10 votes and Series B
shares each carry one vote. All of the Se-
ries A shares are owned by Dunker
Funds and Foundations, created through
testamentary disposition by former
owner and founder of the Helsingborg
and Trelleborg rubber production plants,
Henry Dunker, who died in 1962.

Share price and turnover
The price of Trelleborg’s Series B shares
declined by 12.4 percent (17.5) during
the year. The Stockholmsbörsen All-share
Index declined by 37.4 percent (decline:
15.6) during the year. The highest price
paid during the year was SEK 108, on
April 18th and 19th. The lowest price
paid was SEK 64 on October 10th.

Approximately 96.5 million (102
million) Trelleborg shares were traded

on Stockholmsbörsen in 2002. This cor-
responded to 107percent (110) of the total
number of company shares, or a value
of SEK 8,326 M (7,834).
In terms of trading volume, Trelleborg’s
shares ranked 35th (37th) among all
shares traded on Stockholmsbörsen in
2002. The average daily turnover
amounted to approximately 386,000
shares (409,446), or SEK 33,3 M (31.3).

As of December 31, 2002, foreign
shareholders held 16.09percent (19.10
percent) of Trelleborg’s shares. Including
the Dunker Funds and Foundations, in-
stitutions in Sweden accounted for 68.85
percent (61.73 percent) of the owner-
ship, and institutions in other countries
for 84.12 percent (80.22).

This information is based on the
official share register and list of trustees
as of December 31, 2002.

Dividend policy
Over the long term, the dividend should
amount to between 30 and 50 percent of
profit for the year.

Convertible debenture program
In November 1998 the Parent Company

issued a convertible debenture loan that
was offered to all employees in Trelleborg’s
Swedish companies. The loan is in the
amount of SEK 261 M and carries a fixed
rate of interest keyed to the STIBOR*
minus 0.6 percent. The debentures may
be converted to shares during the period
February 21, 2003-April 15, 2004 at a
conversion price of SEK 66.90 per share.
The conversion price was reduced from
SEK 74 as a result of the spin-off of the
Boliden shares.

If the entire debenture loan is con-
verted to shares at the conversion price
of SEK 66.90, the number of shares will
increase by 3,902,742.

A capital discount of SEK 15 M, based
on the difference between the interest
rate on the company’s convertible loan

Price trend and trading Jan 1998 - Jan 2003 Price trend and trading Jan 2002 - 2003
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and the market rate at the time of issue,
has been credited to restricted shareholders’
equity, or more specifically to the share
premium reserve, in both the Parent
Company and the Group. The discount
is being expensed as interest during the
term of the loan.

The Parent Company has also issued
warrants to senior executives in Sweden
and other countries. Each warrant entitles
the holder to purchase 1.11 shares at a
price of SEK 66.90 during the period
beginning February 21, 2003 through
April 15, 2004.

If all warrants are exercised the num-
ber of shares will increase by 1,368,852.
The dilution effects resulting from full
conversion of debentures and full exer-
cise of warrants at the conversion price
of SEK 66.90 will amount to about 2.7
percent of the voting rights and 5.2 per-
cent of the share capital.

The convertible loan has been listed
on Stockholmsbörsen since November
2000.

Options program for senior
executives
At the Annual General Meeting in 2000,
the decision was taken to implement a

three-year option program. At the Annual
General Meetings in 2000, 2001 and
2002, it was decided to issue maximums of
1,000,000, 1,100,000 and 1,100,000 call
options on the Trelleborg Series B shares
repurchased by the company in the respec-
tive years. The Meeting also decided that
maximums of 1,000,000 and 1,100,000
Series B shares in the company be trans-
ferred as required during respective years in
connection with a redemption of the call
options being effected.

The options were allotted to certain
senior executives in accordance with the
conditions established for the year 2000
options program in the form of 875,000.
975,000 and 1,070,000 options during
the respective years.

The exercise period for the options
from year 2000 extends from October 1,
2002 to March 31, 2003. The exercise
price is SEK 78.

The exercise period for the options
from year 2001 extends from October 1,
2003 to March 31, 2004. The exercise
price is SEK 86.

The exercise period for the options
from year 2002 extends from October 1,
2004 to March 31, 2005. The exercise
price is SEK 122.

Share buy-back program
To normalize the balance sheet and achieve
the return on shareholders’ equity target,
a balanced financial structure is required.
In recent years, the company has therefore
carried out a substantial buy-back of its
own shares.

At year-end 2001, there was a total
of 90,607,373 shares outstanding. Ex-
cluding Trelleborg AB’s own holding
(3,960,800) the number of shares out-
standing totaled 86,646,572.

At the 2002 Annual General Meeting,
the mandate was extended for Trelleborg
to purchase up to 10 percent, or an addi-
tional approximately 5 million shares,
during the period up to the 2003 AGM.

During 2002, a further 2,959,800
shares were purchased and at year-end
2002, Trelleborg AB held 6,920,600
shares for its own account. During the
first week of January 2003, an additional
50,900 shares have been purchased.

Footnote: *STIBOR = Stockholm Inter Bank

Offered Rate.
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Swedish and foreign ownership1), %

Institutional ownership1), %

1)Excluding Trelleborg’s holding

2)Including Dunker Funds and Foundations

Number of shares outstanding, as at December 31, 2002

Reclassification of Series A shares
A decision by the Annual General Meeting
on April 23, 2002, enabled Trelleborg’s
Series A shares to be reclassified as a corre-
sponding number of B shares. During the
year, principal owner Dunker Funds and
Foundations reclassified 2.5 million of its
12 million A shares to B shares. In accor-
dance with what was stated when the buy-
back program was started, this measure
will restore Dunker Funds and Founda-
tions’ voting rights to the level prevailing
prior to the commencement of the buy-
back program. Following the reclassifica-
tion, the remaining A shares corresponded
to 53.9 percent of the voting rights for
the current 90.6 million shares and 52.4
percent after full dilution (after convertible
debentures and warrants).

Proposals for consideration by
2003 Annual General Meeting

1. Extension of buy-back mandate

The Board intends to propose that the
Annual General Meeting approve an
extension of the Board’s mandate to buy
back up to 10 percent of the company
shares outstanding in accordance with
the decision taken at an earlier Annual
General Meeting.

2. Dividend

The Board and President propose that
shareholders be paid a cash dividend of
SEK 4.25 (4.00) per share.
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Shareholder Number of shares Percent of share capital 1) Percent of voting rights 1)

Dunker Funds and Foundations 12,186,000 14.54 57.69
FöreningsSparbanken and Funds 4,488,119 5.35 2.65
Skandia Insurance Company and Funds 3,688,794 4.40 2.18
AFA Insurance Companies 3,539,950 4.22 2.09
Franklin Templeton Funds (USA) 3,336,009 3.98 1.97
Alecta Pension Insurance 3,274,015 3.91 1.93
Handelsbanken and Funds and SPP Life 2,737,903 3.27 1.62
S-E-Banken/Trygg Hansa SE, LU and Funds 1,616,322 1.93 0.95
Svenskt Näringsliv
   (Confederation of Swedish Enterprise) 1,500,000 1.79 0.89
State Street Bank US 1,166,261 1.39 0.69
Other 51,360 shareholders 46,153,399 55.22 27.34

Net shares outstanding 83,686,772 100.00 100.00

Trelleborg AB 6,920,6002) 7.49 3.85

Total 90,607,372
1) Excluding Trelleborg’s holding

2) Of which 137,000 shares were repurchased before year-end but were registered in the share register after year-end.

Ownership structure as at December 31, 2002

At year-end 2002, the number of Series B shareholders totaled 51,370 (52,315), of whom 30,023 (30,970)

were directly registered and 21,347 (21,346) nominee-registered.

Number of No. of % of total Change, % from
B shares shareholders B shares Dec. 31, 2001
1–1,000 46,649 13.85 1.29
1,001–5,000 3,828 10.51 0.71
5,001–50,000 751 12.81 2.00
50,001– 140 62.83 -4.00

Total 51,368 100.00

Number of shares, voting rights and share class
Share class No. of shares % No. of votes %
Series A 9,500,000 10.48 95,000,000 53.94

Series B 81,107,372 89.52 81,107,372 46.06
Total 90,607,372 100.00 176,107,372 100.00

Distribution of shares, December 31, 2002

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Earnings per share, SEK 4.75 5.35 7.30 8.60 4.20

Earnings per share, excl. non-comparable items, SEK 7.25 7.45 6.50 6.35 4.05
Earnings per share, excl. non-comparable items
   and goodwill amortization, SEK 8.95 9.00 7.35 7.25 4.90
Earnings per share, after dilution, SEK 4.65 5.20 7.05 8.30 4.20
Shareholders’ equity per share, SEK 87.05 88.70 84.60 78.50 93.55
Dividend, SEK 4.251) 4.00 3.75 3.25 2.002)

Yield, % 6.0 5.0 5.5 4.2 3.0
Market price, B share, December 31, SEK 70.50 80.50 68.00 76.50 66.00
P/E ratio, excl. non-comparable items 10 11 10 12 16

No. of shares

As at Dec. 31 83,686,772 86,646,572 101,437,027 117,341,524 117,341,524
Average 86,150,341 96,512,234 109,855,550 117,341,524 117,341,524
After dilution, Dec. 31 88,029,107 92,918,166 107,198,131 122,631,118 122,544,424
After dilution, average 90,492,676 100,731,462 115,127,144 122,612,286 117,737,599

1) According to Board of Directors’ proposal

2) In addition, Trelleborg’s holding of common stock in Boliden was spun off to shareholders, who received 0.3908 Boliden shares per Trelleborg
share, equivalent to SEK 6.45

Key data per share
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Core operations

2002

The combined sales of Trelleborg’s four
core business areas, Trelleborg Automotive,
Trelleborg Wheel Systems, Trelleborg
Engineered Systems and Trelleborg
Building Systems, amounted to SEK

17,159 M (17,750) during 2002. Operat-
ing profit, including Group-wide expenses,
amounted to SEK 921 M (1,005), resulting
in a decrease in the operating margin
from 5.7 percent to 5.2 percent.

Trelleborg Automotive
Europe accounts for nearly 65 percent of
the business area’s sales, and North
America for about 30 percent. Fiscal 2002
was characterized by declining car pro-
duction in Europe, a weak market in Ja-
pan, but a better-than-expected trend in
North America. The markets in China
and India continued to develop strongly
during the year.

Work to integrate earlier acquisitions
continued during the year, and one plant
was closed. Some production was moved
from Germany to Group units in Spain
and Turkey.

To meet the weak market trend, per-
sonnel cutbacks were made corresponding
to approximately 500 persons.

A new line was put into operation
in Kalmar, Sweden, to manufacture
Applied Damping Material (ADM)
products. These are sold under the
Duru-Lam brand mainly to customers
in the automotive sector.

A new plant for products with indus-
trial antivibration applications was put
into operation in Leicester, England,
during the year.

Trelleborg Wheel Systems
Demand was stable for agricultural and

forest machine tires in Europe. The market
for industrial tires declined in Europe and
North America by around 6-8 percent,
but stabilized during the second half of
the year.

Trelleborg strengthened its market
shares, despite tough competition and
intense price pressure. Operating profit
improved sharply.

A comprehensive restructuring pro-
gram was implemented, which included
a reorganization, the restructuring of
production and cost rationalization mea-
sures. The workforce was reduced by 244
persons. Net sales per employee rose by
about 8 percent. The program had a posi-
tive effect on earnings as of the second half
of 2002 and is expected to generate a
full effect corresponding to more than
SEK 70 M, as of 2004.

A new product program,Twin Forestry,
was launched in the European forest tire
sector in 2002.

Trelleborg Engineered Systems
The market for industrial supplies declined
in many parts of the world. Demand
from the oil industry was strong, while
stable demand was noted from the off-
shore sector.

Profitability in the business area
improved, primarily because of a better
product mix and lower costs.

The acquisition of operations in
Seaward International Inc, one of the
leading US producers of fender systems,
strengthened Trelleborg’s position as mar-
ket leader in the United States and im-
proved its positions in Europe and Asia.
The acquisitions made in 2001, in marine
fender systems, among other areas, were
successfully integrated during the year.

Efficiency-enhancement and restructuring
measures within Trelleborg Industrial
Hose contributed to increased productiv-
ity and reduced sales and administration
expenses.

Trelleborg White Goods was divested.

Trelleborg Building Systems
Overall demand in Europe remained
weak, especially in Germany, which
accounts for more than one fourth of the
European building market. The Nordic
building market remained relatively stable.

With the exception of Rubber
Membranes, all Trelleborg Building
Systems’ business units developed better
than in 2001, despite the weaker market.

Growth was mainly due to stronger
marketing efforts.

The well-managed integration of
Danish company Phønix Tag, acquired
in 2001, resulted in efficiency improve-
ments and reduced costs.

The strategic alliance with JP Stevens
strengthened Trelleborg’s position in the
TPO segment. The business area’s position
as one of the two dominating players in
the Nordic market for waterproof roofing
materials was consolidated through an
alliance with Isola in Norway.
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2002 Earnings excl. Depreciation Goodwill Gross Sold Other Total 2001
associated companies excl. goodwill amortization investments fixed changes operating

and non-comparable  assets in capital cash flow
SEK M items employed

Trelleborg Automotive 568 394 114 -474 23 -122 503 903

Trelleborg Wheel Systems 128 120 19 -141 10 55 191 104

Trelleborg Engineered Systems 198 105 18 -87 25 -8 251 199

Trelleborg Building Systems 152 48 17 -31 16 23 225 172

Group-wide expenses -159 8 -4 20 -135 -162

Core operations 887 675 168 -737 74 -32 1,035 1,216

Net sales and operating results

Cash flow report

Operating profit by quarter

Key operating figures

      Jan – March          Apr–June July–Sep            Oct–Dec
SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trelleborg Automotive 146 180 176 201 119 157 160 209

Trelleborg Wheel Systems 24 60 39 43 31 7 34 -17

Trelleborg Engineered Systems 50 46 46 43 49 46 53 46

Trelleborg Building Systems 13 22 45 35 69 54 27 27

Group-wide expenses -39 -34 -32 -31 -41 -32 -48 -57

Core operations 194 274 274 291 227 232 226 208

                                                     Capital employed, SEK M          Operating margin (ROS), %         Return on capital
          employed (ROA), %

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trelleborg Automotive 5,347 5,739 6.1 7.5 10.8 13.2

Trelleborg Wheel Systems 1,621 1,680 4.3 3.0 7.7 4.9

Trelleborg Engineered Systems 1,673 1,719 6 5.4 12.1 10.6

Trelleborg Building Systems 748 818 8.1 7.6 19.5 16.3

Group-wide expenses 71 13 – – –

Core operations 9,460 9,969 5.2 5.7 9.5 9.9

Net sales Operating profit Operating profit
excl depreciation

SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trelleborg Automotive 9,297 9,777 1,109 1,284 601 747

Trelleborg Wheel Systems 2,968 3,127 267 236 128 93

Trelleborg Engineered Systems 3,318 3,369 321 310 198 181

Trelleborg Building Systems 1,880 1,794 219 207 154 138

Group-wide expenses – -152 -144 -160 -154

Eliminations -304 -317 0 –

Core operations 17,159 17,750 1,764 1,893 921 1,005

C o r e  o p e r a t i o n s
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Trelleborg Automotive is a leading global supplier
of noise- and vibration-damping systems for auto-
motive and industrial applications.

Business Area President George Caplea

BUSINESS AREA Trel leborg
Automotive

Strong position

based on global

presence and cus-

tomer orientation

in all areas

Automotive is the Trelleborg Group’s
largest business area, with annual sales
of approximately SEK 9,300 M and 8,800
employees in 14 countries on four conti-
nents. The head office is located in the US.

Automotive is active throughout the
NVH (Noise, Vibration, Harshness) area.
The customer base consists primarily of
a large number of global automakers.
Trelleborg is ranked as one of the top
100 suppliers to the automotive industry.

The business area has shown very
rapid growth and more than quadrupled
its sales during the past three years. The
major acquisitions made have provided
Automotive both with new customers and
a broader product portfolio.

Operations
Business segments

The business area’s three main segments
are Automotive AVS (Antivibration
Systems), Automotive Components &
Acoustics and Fluid Systems.

Automotive AVS
AVS is the largest segment and accounts
for more than 60 percent of the business
area’s total sales. The segment develops,
manufactures and markets polymer-based
components and systems to reduce vibra-
tion in passenger cars and other light ve-
hicles. Trelleborg is a world leader in this
segment. The AVS product range covers
all chassis and driveline applications.

Automotive Components & Acoustics
This segment delivers products and solu-
tions for the damping of noise and vibra-
tions in various areas. It accounts for nearly
30 percent of Automotive’s sales. In the
industrial AVS market, Trelleborg supplies
noise- and vibration-damping solutions
to customers in traditional industries –
ranging from the rail and marine sectors
to infrastructure and construction.

Fluid Systems
Fluid Systems delivers components and
systems for cooling and air-supply and
operates within the engine and vehicle pro-
duction markets. This segment accounts
for 8 percent of Automotive’s total sales.

Products and customers

Trelleborg’s products reduce noise and
vibration and contribute to increased
operating reliability and comfort. The
products can be found under the hood
of many well-known vehicles. Engine
mounts, suspension mounts, noise damp-
ers for brakes (brake shims) represent a
few of the many NVH products

Net sales and operating profit
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2002
Summary of Fiscal 2002 was a challenging year for the world’s automotive industry, and

thus also for Trelleborg Automotive. Both sales and earnings declined slightly,
compared with the preceding year. There was a strong focus on integrating the
units acquired earlier and on continued rationalization and measures to raise
operating efficiency.

Sales and earnings
• Sales were slightly lower than in 2001 due mainly to the general market

trend and phase-out of licensed production.

• Profit was slightly weaker, compared with the preceding year, and margins
were lower.

• Cash flow was affected by a higher level of investment.

Key developments
• New production line for ADM products in Kalmar – major future potential.

• Production of ADM products for VW and Ford, among other customers.

• First ADM order from computer manufacturer.

• New plant for products with industrial antivibration applications in Leicester, UK.

• New flexible engine mounts combining hydraulic and traditional materials
delivered to a number of auto manufacturers, including Audi.

• Alliance with Tokai in Japan generated new business opportunities within
Nissan/Renault.

Efficiency improvements
• Rationalization of Laird acquisition continued, one plant closed.

• More efficient business system implemented to improve cost control.

• Number of employees reduced, on average approximately 500 full-time-
equivalent jobs.

• Production relocated from Germany to Spain and Turkey.

Market trend
• Declining vehicle production in Europe, some recovery toward end of year

• Unexpectedly strong vehicle market in the US

• Continued pressure on prices – many established automakers have problems

• Continued strong development of markets in China and India.

Key figures 2002 2001

Net sales, SEK M 9,297 9,777

Share of Group net sales, % 52.7 52.1

Operating profit, SEK M 601 747

Operating margin, % (ROS) 6.1 7.5

Capital employed, SEK M 5,347 5,739

Return on capital employed, % (ROA) 10.8 13.2

Investments in fixed assets, SEK M 474 366

Operating cash flow, SEK M 503 903

Average no. of employees 8,854 9,342

Production operations in Sweden, Germany, the United Kingdom, France, Spain, Italy,
the Czech Republic, Turkey, the United States, Mexico, Brazil, India and China.

T r e l l e b o r g  A u t o m o t i v e
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the Business Area supplies. Other auto-
motive products include thermoplastic
boots and gas springs for vehicles. Aside
from the auto industry, the range includes
antivibration mounts for boat engines
and suspension mounts for trains.

A new product category, which has
aroused considerable interest, is the unique
range of ADM (Applied Damping Mate-
rial) products. These are sold under the
Duru-Lam brand and are produced mainly
for auto manufacturers. However, the
ADM products have significantly greater
application potential, as reflected by a new
customer category – computer producers.

Product development

Product development is one of the key
factors underlying the business area’s suc-
cess in its markets. Product development
work is conducted in close cooperation
with the customer. Trelleborg is often
invited to become involved at an early
stage in new customer projects, such as
in the development of a new car model.
Automotive’s products are tailored to meet
individual customer demands, which
helps to reduce both costs and the time
to market launch. One of the challenges
faced by Automotive’s product develop-
ment personnel is the need to anticipate
customers’ future needs and provide cut-
ting-edge technological solutions ahead of
the business area’s competitors. Through
its position as market leader in key product
segments, Automotive has the economies
of scale and global presence needed to
undertake large and complex projects in

a demanding marketplace. Trelleborg
maintains product development centers
at five locations around the world, to best
serve its customers.

The market and Trelleborg’s
position
Geographically, Automotive’s natural focus
is on the North American and European
markets, where most of the players in the
world’s automotive industry are located.
The business area’s head office is in
South Haven, Michigan, in the US, with
a regional office in Europe. Automotive
has production plants in the US, South
America, Europe and Asia and maintains
a close geographic presence to the largest
automakers. To cover the important
Japanese auto industry, Trelleborg has
established an alliance with Tokai, one of
Japan’s leading companies in the NVH
field. It is estimated that the global market
for antivibration equipment for light
vehicles (cars and light trucks) is worth
more than EUR 5 billion (SEK 45 billion).

Key customers include the world’s
leading automakers, such as Ford, General
Motors, Daimler-Chrysler, the Volkswagen
Group and the Renault/Nissan Group.
Vehicle manufacturers account for approxi-
mately 85 percent of the business area’s
sales.

The market for industrial AVS
equipment is considerably smaller than
for automotive applications and is esti-
mated to be worth EUR 700 M (SEK 6 bil-
lion), with industry, rail and off-road the
main areas of application.

Trelleborg’s position and competitors

Trelleborg strives to attain a leadership
position in those markets in which the
Group is active. Within antivibration
equipment, Trelleborg is a world leader
and ranks No. 1 in both the American
and European automotive markets.

Within Industrial AVS, Trelleborg is
currently No. 1 in Europe and No. 2 in
the US. Trelleborg Automotive is also a
world leader for the supply of thermo-
plastic boots and brake shims.

Major competitors in the AVS area
are Cooper, Vibracoustic, Boge/Elastmetal

Net sales per geographic market

Net sales per product segment

Europe 

North and  
South America 

Asia

Automotive AVS

Auto Components 
and Acoustics 

Fluid Systems
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Trelleborg Automotive is a

world leader in the develop-

ment and production of poly-

mer-based components and

systems to reduce vibration

and noise in passenger cars

and other light vehicles.

T r e l l e b o r g  A u t o m o t i v e

23



24

and Paulstra/Bridgestone. In boots, the
main competitor is Freudenberg-NOK,
while major players in the brake shims
area are Wolverine and MSC.

The industry has been subject to
considerable consolidation and restruc-
turing, since many of the competitors –
particularly in Europe – belong to indus-
trial groups with core operations outside
the automotive area. Trelleborg has taken
an active part in the consolidation process,
acquiring such companies as BTR AVS
and Laird Automotive Components,
which has helped the Group to attain its
leading position in the automotive area.

Trelleborg has a strong financial posi-
tion and intends to remain active in the
restructuring process in order to consoli-
date its leading market position. An in-
creased presence in the important Asian
market, with greater emphasis on China,
is a prioritized goal. Today, Trelleborg is
already a leading supplier to North Ameri-
can and European vehicle manufacturers
in China through AVS.

Market trend

Developments in the world’s automotive
markets are the single most important
external factor for Automotive. The
underlying market growth for light ve-
hicles is moderate and in line with the
trend of GNP and private consumption.
A positive factor for Trelleborg is an
increasing demand for products that
dampen noise and vibration and in-
crease vehicle ride comfort. At the same
time, there is very tough pressure on

prices in the market. Trelleborg meets
this by focusing increasingly on cost-ef-
ficient production processes.

Year 2002 was characterized by
declining vehicle production in Europe
and a weak market in Japan, but a slightly
better-than-expected performance in
North America. European vehicle pro-
duction decreased by about 3 percent
during 2002, while North America
showed a gain of about 6 percent.

Trelleborg anticipates that vehicle
production in both North America and
Europe will increase slightly during the
next few years. Growth in the US is pri-
marily expected to occur among Asian
manufacturers active in the US. The
domestic vehicle industry – including
many of Trelleborg’s largest customers –
is expected to report‘a weaker growth
trend. It is expected that the Japanese
market will remain under pressure, while
China will constitute a growth market.

New supplier structure

The trend within the world’s auto indus-
try is toward fewer but larger suppliers.
Today, most of Trelleborg Automotive’s
production is sold directly to the auto
manufacturers. This figure can be expected
to decline over time, since Original
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) are
increasingly outsourcing the development
of entire systems to primary, or Tier 1 sup-
pliers. Examples of such suppliers include
Delphi, GKN and Valeo. Trelleborg is
working actively to strengthen its position
among Tier 1 suppliers.

Strategies for success

The most important success factors for
Automotive include the business area’s
focus on the polymer area, the necessary
critical mass and advanced, near-customer
product-development activities.

The main strategies of the business
area can be summarized as follows:

• Market leader. Trelleborg strives to
be No. 1 within all segments in
which the Group is active. Growth
is achieved both organically and
through acquisitions.

• Global presence. Automotive is rep-
resented on four continents and con-
sequently has the prerequisites to
serve customers with global produc-
tion and sales. An increased presence
in Asia is being sought.

• Stated focus on customers. Automotive
works in close proximity to its cus-
tomers in all areas, ranging from
product development to after-market
and service activities. This provides
customers with the greatest possible
added value.

• Cost-efficient production. Through
economies of scale and focus on costs
and production-efficiency measures,
Trelleborg Automotive can withstand
tough competition and price pressure.
Part of this process involves the relo-
cation of production to low-cost
countries in, for example, Eastern
Europe and Asia.
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Trelleborg Automotive’s principal research
and development activities are conducted
through technical centers in Sweden,
Germany, France and the United States.
The anechoic chamber at the Höhr-
Grenzhausen center in Germany fea-
tures advanced equipment that enables
all sources of sound in vehicles to be
identified and subsequently dampened
and eliminated.

T r e l l e b o r g  A u t o m o t i v e
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Trel leborg
Wheel Systems

Trelleborg Wheel Systems is one of the
world’s largest suppliers of solid industrial
tires and one of the largest suppliers of
farm tires in Europe. Its growth in recent
years has been strong and the business
area has strengthened its positions in a
sluggish market.

Production takes place in 9 plants on
three continents. There are sales offices in
all important markets on five continents.
Sales in 2002 amounted to nearly SEK

3,000 M, with some 2,300 employees in
19 countries. The head office is in Italy.

Operations
Business segments

Wheel Systems develops, manufactures
and markets its products through two
main segments, Forest and Farm Tires
with applications in forestry and farming,
and Industrial Tires for materials-handling
vehicles.

Forest and Farm Tires
Forest and Farm Tires, the largest segment,
accounts for 50 percent of the business

area’s total sales. The segment comprises
the development, production and distribu-
tion of tires and wheel systems for tractors
and other farm and forest machinery.
The segment’s position is notably strong
in the market for large high-grade tires, a
field in which Trelleborg offers a full range
of products. Key Brands are Trelleborg®

and Pirelli®.

Industrial Tires
Industrial Tires includes tires and com-
plete wheel systems for vehicles used in
materials-handling and related operations
– various types of transport vehicles such as
fork-lift trucks, for example. The vehicles
and wheel systems are exposed to severe
strains during intensive use, resulting in
substantial wear and tear. As a result, a
large part of the market consists of solid-
rubber tires. The segment accounts for
30 percent of the business area’s sales.
Key brands are Bergougnan, monarch,
Rota and Mastersolid.

In addition to the two main segments
the business area includes Technical
Materials, which produces polymer com-
pounds and specialty products, primarily
for further processing within the Trelleborg
Group.

Products and customers

Rubber tires offer superior performance
on tractors and forest machines that oper-
ate in demanding farm and forest envi-
ronments. There are no alternative mate-
rials to rubber. Pirelli has been a pioneer
in the technical shift that has been

Net sales and operating profit

ROA and ROS

Comprehensive

restructuring has

yielded improved

profitability

BUSINESS AREA

Trelleborg Wheel Systems is a leading global
supplier of tires and complete wheel systems
for forest and farm machines, lift trucks and
other materials-handling vehicles.

Business Area President Maurizio Vischi
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Key figures 2002 2001

Net sales , SEK M 2,968 3,127

Share of Group net sales, % 16.8 16.7

Operating profit, SEK M 128 93

Operating margin, % (ROS) 4.3 3.0

Capital employed, SEK M 1,621 1,680

Return on capital employed, % (ROA) 7.7 4.9

Investments in fixed assets, SEK M 141 122

Operating cash flow, SEK M 191 104

Average no. of employees 2,377 2,565

Production operations in Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands, Belgium, Spain, Italy,
the United States and Sri Lanka.

T r e l l e b o r g  W h e e l  S y s t e m s

During 2002 Trelleborg Wheel Systems focused on achieving increased profit-
ability through reorganization and the restructuring of production, cost rational-
ization and efficiency-improvement measures. The efficiency program had a
positive effect on earnings as of the third quarter. Trelleborg strengthened its
market position during the year.

Sales and earnings
• Sales were down slightly due to continued weak markets.

• Operating profit increased by 39%. The downward trend reversed during the second
quarter and an upswing was noted during the third and fourth quarters.

• Stronger cash flow was noted in all quarters.

Key developments
• Operations were reorganized to achieve increased market orientation.

• The product range was standardized, with a 30% cut in the number of tire models.

• The inflow of semi-finished products was standardized.

• The response time for customer inquires was sharply reduced.

• A common sales database was installed.

• A new tire product program, Twin Forestry, was introduced throughout Europe.

Efficiency improvements
• A comprehensive restructuring program was implemented. The global production

structure was rationalized, with closures, relocations and adjustments made to
capacity and production.

• Production flow efficiency was improved.

• Production plant expenses were cut by approximately 15%.

• The number of employees was reduced by 244 persons.

• Net sales per employee rose by around 8%.

• The restructuring program had a positive effect on earnings as of the second
half of 2002.

Market trend
• European demand for farm and forest machine tires remained stable at a low level.

• The market for industrial tires in Europe and North America declined by about 6-8%.

2002
Summary of

27
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Net sales per geographic market

Net sales per product segment

under way for 20 years, involving a change-
over from cross-ply to radial tires. Demand
for radial tires is increasing as machines
are increasingly being operated at higher
speeds. The percentage of radial tires in
Europe is now approximately 75 percent,
with Pirelli as one of the leading brands.

The percentage in other parts of the
world is modest. The trend is towards
centralized farming and larger tractors,
and consequently larger high performance
tires, with Trelleborg Wheel Systems as
one of the leading actors. Customers are
primarily the large manufacturers of forest
and tractor machinery´s, as well as their
importers and tire dealers.

Industrial Tires’ products are used
mainly on transport vehicles and materials-
handling equipment. This includes, for
example, heavy-lift trucks that move and
transport goods in warehouses, at airports
and in harbors. Customers are lift truck
manufacturers and their distributors,
companies that maintain inventories,
transport firms or organizations and public
authorities responsible for infrastructure.

Product development

Two new basic series were introduced un-
der the Twin Forestry name in the forest tire
sector in 2002, one for the Scandinavian
market and one for the rest of Europe.
Twin Forestry represents a renovation of
the entire product line, with two main pat-
terns adapted to the functional and legal
requirements that separate the two mar-
kets. Development of the Twin Forestry
series is continuing with the expansion
of a complete range of tire dimensions.

The successful launch of the new series
of radial tires for harvesting machines,
the Trelleborg TM 2000, continued with
the inclusion of new sizes in core sub-
segments. The launch of the new TWIN
Radial Implement tires was expanded to

include other areas of application, such
as tires for spray machines and tank trailers.

The market and Trelleborg’s
position
Following the acquisition of Pirelli Agri-
cultural Tire Division in 1998, which pro-

vided access to Pirelli’s technology in the
radial tire field, Trelleborg Wheel System
is focusing on the large agricultural mar-
kets in Europe and the forest markets in
the Nordic Region.

The European farm and forestry
markets are mature, but demand for
efficient equipment and vehicles and for
large, high-grade tires is increasing par-
allel with requirements for cost-effective
production. The expansion of the Euro-
pean Union (EU) that offers more rapid
rationalization of farm operations in
both Western and Eastern Europe is an
important driving force for the future.
This is resulting in the formation of
large farms that require larger machines.
With its tire sizes and radial products,
Trelleborg has succeeded in reducing
the damage to farmland caused by
heavy machines.

Trelleborg is investing in order to
further increase its coverage of the market
for farm tires North America, and for all
of its products in Eastern Europe, South-
east Asia, South America, South Africa
and Australia.

Image and marketing play an impor-
tant role in the market for farm and forest
tires. Strong brands like Pirelli® and
Trelleborg® offer an advantage. During
2002 Trelleborg began a campaign to
profile its new premium-grade products
for the farm market, including a substan-
tial advertising campaign in a number of
geographical markets.

The market for industrial tires is also
mature and is developing in line with the

general industrial economy. Efforts to re-
duce the amount of capital tied up in
companies is driving the trend to rational-
ize and reduce inventories, which is mak-
ing efficient handling of materials increas-
ingly important. This is creating a long-
term growing demand for solid industrial

tires for various types of materials-handling
machines such as heavy-lift trucks.

Trelleborg’s position and competitors

With the Pirelli and Trelleborg brands,
Trelleborg is the third-largest player in the
farm market in Europe. Trelleborg is a
world leader in solid industrial tires with a
share of approximately 22 percent of the
market in Europe and the United States.

Competition in the industry is tough,
with a large number of players. Neverthe-
less Trelleborg Wheel Systems plays a
role of first-level producer with its well-

Asia & Australia 

Latin America 

North America 

Other European  
countries 

Other Scandinavian  
countries 

Sweden

Other  

Forest and Farm

Industrial Tires

Technical Materials
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known brands. The demand for high-tech
competence is dramatically reducing the
number of key competitors and allows a
better price positioning. Competitors in
the market for farm and forest tires include
Michelin, Goodyear, Nokian, Firestone
and Continental. Solideal, MITL, Conti-
nental, Aichi and Watts are the main com-
petitors in the market for industrial tires.

Market trend

The global market for farm and forest
tires amounts to nearly SEK 25 billion
annually, of which Europe accounts for
approximately 43 percent. Replacement
purchases account for about 70 percent.
Growth is occurring primarily in the
market for radial tires.

The global market for industrial tires
amounts to SEK 5 billion annually, of
which Europe and North America account
for approximately 70 percent. About 70
percent of the market consists of replace-
ment tires.

In Europe, demand for farm and forest
machine tires remained stable at a low
level during 2002.

Demand for industrial tires in Europe
and North America declined by about 6-8
percent.

Trelleborg succeeded in capturing
market shares in a weak market.

Restructuring and rationalization

The industry is mature and a global
restructuring process is in progress.
Manufacturers and distributors are being
integrated and production is being trans-

ferred to low-cost countries, particularly
for the commodity segments.

At the end of 2001, the business area
began a restructuring program that in-
cluded a reorganization, the restructuring
of production, cost-saving and improve-
ments in efficiency, as well as aggressive
marketing measures. This program was
largely implemented during 2002.

The reorganization brought together
the various production organizations in a
more market-oriented structure in which
synergies in marketing can be utilized
more effectively. Production was restruc-
tured substantially:

• Belgian production in Industrial
Tires was closed down and the opera-
tions were transferred to Sri Lanka.

• The Belgian plant in the Technical
Materials segment was closed down
and production was transferred to
Spain.

• Production of light industrial tires was
moved from Trelleborg to Sri Lanka.

• Production and capacity in Trelleborg’s
plant for forest tires and technical
materials were adjusted.

• Production and capacity were adjusted
in the industrial tire plant in Hartville
in the US.

Trelleborg also implemented a number of
rationalization and efficiency-improvement
measures that included concentration of
the product line to the most profitable
products, standardization of component
materials, changes in production planning,
improvements in service and a common
information system and measures to create

a stronger common culture. Price increases
were also posted during the year as a result
of raw material price hikes.
The entire action program involved
reducing the number of employees by
244 persons during calendar year 2002.
Beginning in the second half of 2002,
the action program has had a positive
impact on profit and the full effects of
the program are expected to be felt as
of the beginning of 2004.

Strategies for success

Efficient production, a customer-oriented
distribution network and customer-ori-
ented product development are factors for
the success of the three main strategies:

• Strengthen Telleborg’s positions in
selected segments through a focus
on quality and innovative product
characteristics.

• Increase the emphasis on supplemen-
tary services.

• Increase the penetration of geographi-
cal growth markets – in East Europe
and Southeast Asia, for example –
and increase Trelleborg’s share of the
market for radial tires in the U.S.

Work at the Trelleborg Wheel
Systems’ development center
in Italy focuses mainly on new
farm machine tires. With its
comprehensive range, the
company holds a very strong
position in the high-quality
large-tire segment.

T r e l l e b o r g  W h e e l  S y s t e m s
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Engineered Systems
TrelleborgBUSINESS AREA

Trelleborg Engineered Systems uses its extensive
engineering skills and experience to develop, manu-
facture, market and distribute industrial fluid sys-
tems and engineered solutions based on polymer
materials to leading customers in a global market.

Business Area President Georg Brunstam

Continued

improvements

in eff iciency

and earnings

Trelleborg Engineered Systems is a leading
global supplier of advanced, polymer-
based products and systems. The business
area, which has annual sales of more than
SEK 3,300 M, with some 2,800 employees,
maintains sales offices and production
units in Scandinavia, Europe, North
America and Asia. The head office is
located in Sweden.

Operations
Business segments

Trelleborg Engineered Systems’ operations
consist of two business segments: Industrial
Fluid Systems and Engineered Solutions,
each accounting for approximately half of
the business area’s total sales.

Industrial Fluid Systems

Trelleborg develops, manufactures, mar-
kets and distributes industrial hose and
industrial hose systems based on polymer
materials. The goal is to create optimal
value for customers through the propri-
etary development, production and sale
of products with a high technological and
value content for demanding customers
and environments. Sales are global, but

operations are concentrated to Europe
and North America, with an approximately
equal division between these two markets.

Engineered Solutions

Using its technological skills and experi-
ence, Trelleborg increases the value of
customer products through development,
production and marketing of polymer-
based products and systems for sealing,
protection and comfort. Operations are
project-oriented and focus mainly on the
infrastructure and offshore industries.
Sales are global, with main markets in the
US, Europe and Asia.

Products and customers

Trelleborg Engineered Systems has six
business units: Trelleborg Industrial Hose,
Goodall, Trelleborg Elastomer Laminates,
Trelleborg Protective Products, Trelleborg
Engineered Products and Trelleborg
Speciality Materials.

Hose and hose systems are used in
most industrial processes where fluids
need to be transported. Polymer materials
offer many excellent properties for such
applications, including flexibility, strength,
wear-resistance, insulation, durability,
resistance to corrosive fluids and pressure,
cleanliness and the ability not to transfer
either odor or taste.

Trelleborg cooperates closely with
many of its customers, including some
of the leading players in the oil industry,
such as TotalFina-ELF, Statoil, Phillips
and Hydro. In addition to the oil and
offshore industries, important
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T r e l l e b o r g  E n g i n e e r e d  S y s t e m s

During the year, Trelleborg Engineered Systems continued to focus and restructure its operations.
The work to integrate operations was successful and a series of efficiency-enhancement mea-
sures were implemented. There was also a strong focus on product development. Profitability
improved, despite the tough market conditions.

Sales and earnings

• Sales in line with preceding year.

• Operating profit increased mainly due to an improved product mix and lower costs.

• Strong cash flow from operations.

Key developments

• Acquisition of the operations in Seaward International Inc, strengthened Trelleborg’s position
within marine fender systems.

• Operations further concentrated through sale of Trelleborg White Goods.

• Acquisition of Vredstein Infrastructure Sealings strengthened position within tunnel seals.
Integration of this operation led to increased utilization of capacity.

• Rubber sheeting production agreement with McLellan; operations integrated with Spanish unit.

• Several successful product launches, including Trelline hose system for extraction of oil in
deep waters.

Efficiency improvements

• Acquisitions in the marine fender and other areas in 2001 were successfully integrated,
which resulted in lower production costs, strong market development and improved sales
and profitability.

• Number of employees reduced by on average 96 persons.

• New organization, more efficient logistics, with fewer warehouses, and reduced sales and
administrative costs within Trelleborg Industrial Hose.

• Phoenix Domestic Gas Hose integrated with Trelleborg Industrial Hose in France generated
increased market share in a declining market.

• Improved production structure within Trelleborg Elastomer Laminates through relocation of
production from Mexico to Spain.

• Significant cost-efficiency improvements within Goodall.

Market trend

• Market for industrial supplies declined worldwide.

• Stable demand in the offshore market, good demand from the oil industry.

• Positive signals, such as increased public spending, expected to result in increased
number of projects worldwide.

Key figures 2002 2001

Net sales, SEK M 3,318 3,369

Share of Group net sales, % 18.8 18.0

Operating profit, SEK M 198 181

Operating margin, % (ROS) 6.0 5.4

Capital employed, SEK M 1,673 1,719

Return on capital employed, % (ROA) 12.1 10.6

Investments in fixed assets, SEK M 87 105

Operating cash flow, SEK M 251 199

Average no. of employees 2,776 2,872
Production operations in Sweden, Norway, the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, France, Spain,
the United States, Canada, Singapore and Australia. Distribution organization for industrial supplies in North
America.

2002
Summary of
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customers include major distributors of
industrial supplies, companies within the
chemicals, pharmaceuticals, food and
beverages sectors.

The Engineered Solutions business
segment delivers products and solutions
to large infrastructure projects. Typical
applications include tunnel seals, sealing,
protection and damping solutions for
bridges, roads and process industries,
fender systems for harbors and the offshore
industry, and dredging-hose systems.

Elastomeric laminates are supplied to
the electronic and automotive industries.
Protective equipment for hazardous envi-
ronments is a growth area. The market
for protective clothing is global in scope,
with customers in the rescue services and
defense forces.

Product development
Trelleborg makes an early and significant
contribution with its engineering know-
how and problem-solving to the design,
planning and construction stages of long-
term major projects. Today, the develop-
ment of new products is undertaken in-
creasingly in partnership with customers.

A unique product for the offshore
industry is the Elastopipe sprinkler system
developed for use on oil rigs. This product,
with its excellent safety properties, can
withstand explosive fires and is showing
rapid growth in a number of markets.
Another successful development project
is Trelline, a system for transporting oil
in the demanding conditions that prevail
in the deep-sea oil-extraction industry.

Another new-product example is the
pump hose used for the recovery of gaso-
line vapors. The recovery pump hose sig-
nificantly reduces the emission of the
volatile gases present when gasoline is
handled. This lessens their impact on the
environment and on humans during
tank-filling operations.

The market and Trelleborg’s
position
Position and competitors

Trelleborg is the market leader in industrial
fluid systems in Europe and is one of the
three largest players in the US and Canada.
Principal competitors are IVG, Parker
Hannifin and Alfagomma, Semperit,
Hutchinson, Goodyear and Contitech
and Phoenix.

The integration of Phoenix Domestic
Gas Hose operations with those of
Trelleborg Industrial Hose in France
resulted in an increased and growing
market share.

Trelleborg is a world leader within
marine fender systems, tunnel seals,
dredging systems, protective clothing
and elastomeric laminates. Competitors
within the infrastructure products area
include Bridgestone and Phoenix; within
protective products MSA and Dräger;
and within offshore Bredero-Shaw.

Through the acquisition of the op-
erations in Seaward International Inc at
the end of 2002, Trelleborg strength-
ened its position as a market leader
within marine fender systems in the US
and improved its positions in Europe

and Asia. The product range has been
supplemented through the inclusion of
floating fender systems and the geo-
graphic market has been broadened.

The business area’s position in Asia
has been strengthened through an in-
creased presence and the commencement
of production and sales operations in the
infrastructure sector.

Market trend
The market for Industrial Fluid Systems
is mature, with an annual volume of

Net sales per geographic market

Net sales per product segment

Sweden

Other Scandinavian  
countries

Other European  
countries

North America

Latin America

Asia & Australia

Africa

Engineered Systems

Industrial Fluid  
Systems
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approximately SEK 7 billion (in Europe
and North America) and a growth rate
that follows the trend of industrial pro-
duction. The European market structure
is fragmented, with a large number of
players. A slow process of consolidation
is under way, in which Trelleborg is playing
an active part. Certain product areas are
subject to severe competition from low-
cost countries and accompanying price
pressure. Tougher performance demands
are driving the market towards more
sophisticated products and solutions.
Trelleborg is a leader in this development
and is streamlining and focusing its
product portfolio to increase the value
content. This generates higher growth,
lower risk and improved margins.

Demand in the market for Engineered
Solutions fluctuates in pace with invest-
ment in the infrastructure and the devel-
opment of the offshore industry. Many
project tenders are subject to intense inter-
national competition. Increased activity
in the oil-extraction sector in several geo-
graphic markets is having a favorable
effect on the business area. Infrastructure
investments are also increasing in many
areas of the world. The demand for pro-
tective equipment has increased.

Efficiency measures and
restructuring
The program of efficiency improvements
and restructuring within Trelleborg Indus-
trial Hose contributed to the ongoing
reductions in sales and administration
expenses. Within Trelleborg Elastomer

Laminates, production was moved from
Mexico to Spain. Trelleborg White Goods
in the UK was sold, which had a positive
effect on the business area’s earnings. As
a result of the rationalization measures, the
number of employees within Engineered
Systems was reduced by 98 during the year.

Strategies for success
Success factors within Trelleborg Engi-
neered Systems are based on a good under-
standing of customers’ requirements and
operations combined with extensive manu-
facturing, processing and materials know-
how. These form the basis for achieving
and maintaining leading positions.

The strategies and priorities estab-
lished by the business area for the future
include:

• Continued efforts to position and
restructure Industrial Fluid Systems
in Europe

• Proactive rationalization and effi-
ciency-enhancement measures

• Focused product portfolio and
improved product mix through
acquisitions, divestments and
market segmentation

• Growth through acquisition in
selected segments, for example
the infrastructure area

• Exploitation of opportunities for
organic growth through the constant
development and expansion of geo-
graphic markets and through broad
product development activities

• Maintenance of a stable and strong
cash flow.

The acquisition of the opera-

tions in Seaward International

has supplemented Trelleborg’s

marine fender systems range

through the addition of float-

ing fenders, among other

products.

T r e l l e b o r g  E n g i n e e r e d  S y s t e m s
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Trel leborgBUSINESS AREA

Bui lding Systems
Trelleborg Building Systems is a leading
supplier of polymer- and bitumen-based building
products for sealing and insulation applications
in industrial and consumer markets.

Business Area President Peter Suter

A successful

year, with

good growth

and strategic

all iances
Trelleborg Building Systems has annual
sales of slightly more than SEK 1,800 M,
with some 1,300 employees. The head
office is located in Sweden and operations
are conducted in Sweden, Denmark,
Germany and the United Kingdom.

The business area focuses mainly on
the European building and construction
market but strengthened its position in
the United States in certain segments
during 2002.

Operations
Business segments

Trelleborg Building Systems’ operations
are divided into two equally large business
segments: Sealing Profiles and Water-
proofing Systems.

Sealing Profiles

Trelleborg develops, manufactures and
markets sealing products, primarily for
the building industry in Europe (focusing
mainly on the Nordic region, the UK
and Central Europe), and window and
door sealing profiles for the global con-
sumer market.

Waterproofing Systems

Waterproofing Systems’ operations include
the manufacturing and marketing of
bitumen- and rubber-based products for
waterproof covering and insulation appli-
cations throughout the European building
and construction sector. The bitumen-
based products are sold mainly in the
Nordic and Baltic regions.

Products and customers
The natural flexibility and water-repelling
properties of polymer-based products
form the basis for the range of products
developed and manufactured by the
business area.

The Sealing Profiles segment offers an
extensive range of profiles and sealing strips
used for the sealing of windows, doors,
façade elements and ventilation ducts.

The manufacturing industry uses
Trelleborg’s sealing products in, for ex-
ample, household appliances and roof-
racks. Brands include ETM, DIPRO®

and Värnamo®.
The after-market is gaining in impor-

tance as renovation and maintenance
operations increase and new window
seals, for example, are needed. Sealing
profiles for this market are sold via dis-
tributors in the consumer market, such
as Tesa, in Europe, and MD Building
and Frostking in the US.

The most important customers for
Sealing Profiles are industrial construction
companies, such as Schüco and Veka.
Trelleborg has also cooperated closely for
many years with leading window

Net sales and operating profit
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Both business segments in Trelleborg Engineered Systems developed more
favorably than in 2001, despite declining markets. Growth was achieved mainly
as a result of strong marketing efforts. A number of strategic alliances strength-
ened the business area’s position.

Sales and earnings

• Sales improved, compared with 2001.

• Operating profit increased.

• Cash flow from operations improved.

Key developments

• Strategic alliance with JP Stevens strengthened Trelleborg’s position in the new
TPO products area and opened new markets.

• Alliance with Isola in Norway expanded the product range and strengthened
Trelleborg’s position as one of the two dominant players in the Nordic roof
weatherproofing market.

• Partnership with leading window producer increased European coverage within
Sealing Profiles.

• Continued success for new product systems Elastoseal and Elastofol and for
multicomponent profiles.

Efficiency improvements

• Successful integration of Denmark’s Phønix Tag, acquired in 2001. Strong focus
on costs led to efficiency improvements and cost reductions.

• Continuous efficiency-enhancement measures under way in several units.

• Lead times reduced as a result of greater efficiency throughout processing chain.

Market trend

• Markets remained weak in Europe, particularly in Germany.

• Nordic construction market relatively stable.

• Continued internationalization – in pace with customer demands for local presence
and rapid delivery.

• Increased customer demand for complete product ranges, competitive prices and
additional services benefits large players.

Key figures 2002 2001

Net sales, SEK M 1,880 1,794

Share of Group net sales, % 10.7 9.6

Operating profit, SEK M 154 138

Operating margin, % (ROS) 8.1 7.6

Capital employed, SEK M 748 818

Return on capital employed, % (ROA) 19.5 16.3

Investments in fixed assets, SEK M 31 40

Operating cash flow, SEK M 225 172

Average no. of employees 1,153 1,175

Production operations in Sweden, Denmark, Finland, Germany and the United Kingdom.

2002
Summary of
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manufacturers, such as Sapa and Schüco,
and as these manufacturers expand in
Europe, so too does the market for
Trelleborg’s products.

Among other items, Waterproofing
Systems produces rubber sheeting for the
sealing of dams and water reservoirs, as
well as waterproofing material for the
construction industry. Trelleborg’s products
are primarily used to cover low-sloping
roofs, an area dominated by industrial,
retail and office construction. Another
area of application is the protection of
concrete from water on bridges.

Important brands are Mataki® and
Trebolit®. Within the construction sec-
tor, Trelleborg focuses on the end-cus-
tomer, often a property manager, and
contractors. The end-customer frequently
specifies Trelleborg’s products and
implementation is conducted by spe-
cialist contractors.

In the consumer market, Trelleborg
works for such distributors as Dansk
Traelast, ByggTrygg and Coop.

Product development
Within Sealing Products, the focus is on
the development of customized profiles
with specific properties, such as low-fric-
tion profiles. Work to develop new sealing
profiles is conducted to an increasing
extent in close cooperation with the cus-
tomer. Trelleborg develops a couple of
thousand customer-specific and tailor-
made new products each year.

Within Waterproofing Systems,
Trelleborg develops products based on a

combination of bitumen (asphalt) and
polymers to provide the products with
important rubber properties. Wear-
resistance is combined with flexibility.
Examples of new products are Elastofol
and Elastoseal, in which rubber sheeting
laminated with TPO (single-layer poly-
olefin-based thermoplastic covering)
combines seam-welding capability with
the functional advantages of rubber.
Through Elastoseal, the business area
established operations in new markets in
2002. This product provides an impor-
tant link to new TPO technology, which
is expanding rapidly and capturing market
share at the expense of PVC and bitumen-
based roof coverings.

Elastofol is a premium product with
excellent technological properties and a
distinct environmental focus. In addition
to Sweden, sales have been launched in
Belgium and the UK and the market for
this product is expected to grow rapidly.

The market and Trelleborg’s
position
Position and competitors

Within the Sealing Products segment,
Trelleborg is the European market leader
and the only pan-European supplier. The
product range for the consumer market
has grown in recent years, particularly in
eastern Europe. Trelleborg has also made
a successful penetration of the North
American market, where it has captured
a leading position in the area of high-
quality sealing profiles.

Within polymer-based sealing products,

such as rubber sheeting for waterproof
covering applications, Trelleborg is the
European leader. Within bitumen-based
weatherproofing, the company is the sec-
ond-largest player in the Nordic region,
the market leader in Sweden and holds
strong positions in Denmark and Finland.

Major competitors to Sealing Profiles
are Iseogomma, Saargummi and Semperit.
Waterproofing Systems’ main competi-
tors are Phoenix AG and Saargummi.
Icopal is the market leader in bitumen-
based waterproofing products.

Net sales per geographic market

Net sales per product segment
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Market trend
Lower demand has been noted by much
of the European market in recent years,
which has affected the development of
the business area. Demand has declined,
in particular, in the important German
market, which accounts for slightly more
than one fourth of the European construc-
tion market. The Nordic market has
been more stable, although the expected
growth in this region has not occurred.
The downturn has led to price pressure,
a certain surplus capacity and continued
consolidation. Trelleborg has taken, and
continues to take, an active part in the
restructuring trend.

The construction market is becoming
increasingly international and demands
for a local presence and fast deliveries are
vital to achieving leading market positions.
Through its manufacturing operations in
the most important markets in Europe
and a closely-knit distribution network,
Trelleborg holds a strong position in the
market.

Strategic alliances
Cooperation with Norwegian roofing
company Isola has strengthened
Trelleborg’s position in the Nordic region
and broadened the product range. A jointly
owned market company, Nordic Water-
proofing AB, was formed during the year.
In 2002, an international cooperation
agreement was signed with JP Stevens,
the leading manufacturer of TPO products
in the US. The agreement complements
the business area’s range in the European

market since it gives Trelleborg access to
JPS Elastomerics’ range of TPO roof-
and ground-covering products. At the
same time, Trelleborg Building Systems
is provided with greater coverage of the
US market.

Strategies for success
Trelleborg Building Systems’ present suc-
cess is based on three key factors: a com-
petent sales force, strong focus on product
development and efficient production.
The business area’s strategies for the
future include:

• Strengthening its positions within
bitumen-based weatherproofing in
the Nordic region and eastern Europe.

• Establishing a greater presence in
southern Europe.

• Seeking acquisition targets, partner-
ships and strategic alliances to broaden
markets and provide customers with
added value.

• Expanding market potential
through a continued focus on
product development.

• Continuing the program of measures
to raise efficiency in all areas.

Trelleborg Building Systems conducts
its product development in close coop-
eration with customers. Each year, a
couple of thousand customer-specific
products are developed in this way.
Through its successful penetration of
the US market, the business area has
captured a leading position in high-
quality sealing profiles.

T r e l l e b o r g  B u i l d i n g  S y s t e m s
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Twin Forestry – tire developed for forest machines
of the future
Forest machines must be able to go virtually anywhere. Difficult terrain
demands good tires that do minimal damage to the soil surface so as to
protect roots and the remaining forest. With its Twin Forestry 428 and 422
tires, Trelleborg Wheel Systems has developed a tire system that meets the
specific requirements for cut-to-length (CTL) machines. Increasingly, the CTL
system is replacing the conventional type of forest-felling, which involves
cutting down entire trees and taking them out to a road for onward trans-
port. In the CTL system, two machines are used – a harvester that fells the
trees, measures them, removes side branches and cuts the trunks to length,
and a forwarder that transports the timber from the forest to the road.

Trelleborg Wheel Systems is one of two world-leading players producing
tires for CTL machines, and is alone in being able to offer a complete wheel
system. Twin Forestry was developed, from drawings to the finished range of
products, in cooperation with leading forest-machine producers. The devel-
opment process includes extensive testing in varying terrain and over dif-
ferent surfaces, such as snow, ice and clay.

Trelleborg is a high-technology, poly-
mer-based company that develops prod-
ucts and industrial solutions primarily
based on the many application areas for
rubber. The innovation process within
Trelleborg is one of the Group’s key suc-
cess factors. Products are developed at
an early stage and in close cooperation
with the customer.

Trelleborg devotes substantial
resources to being at the forefront in
research and development and to trying
to foresee tomorrow’s needs for products
and solutions. In the fundamental poly-
mers area, continuous research and devel-
opment activities have given Trelleborg a
leading position among the world’s rubber
companies.

Costs for research and development
during 2002 amounted to SEK 470 M,
which corresponds to 2.7 percent of sales.

The Trelleborg Group has four large
Automotive technology centers, located
in Germany, Sweden, France and the US.
The Group also has 15 product-develop-

ment units worldwide, enabling Trelleborg
to serve its customers at a global level.

Process on three levels
The innovation process at Trelleborg is
conducted on three levels, or in three
phases. The first phase is the Group’s basic
know-how in the physics and chemistry
of polymers. The second is its experience
and knowledge of polymer applications.
The third phase is the development and
concrete design of products, often under-
taken in cooperation with customers.
Trelleborg develops thousands of new
products each year in this manner.

In the Automotive area, Trelleborg’s
practice of conducting development
work close to the customer is a crucial
competitive advantage. The trend is toward
ever-decreasing lead times between inno-
vation and finished product. A few years
ago, it could take more than five years to
complete development of a new car model.
Today, that period of time has been
halved in many cases. Throughout the

entire Trelleborg Group, every effort is
made to shorten development times and
thus be able to launch products earlier.
Research and development operations
actively contribute to this process by
developing technologies and prototypes
at an early stage. By anticipating trends
in the automotive industry, Trelleborg
can fulfill customers’ wishes even before
the actual demand for a given product or
design arises.

State-of-the-art technology crucial
The Group’s aim is to offer customers
the very latest technology, thereby giving
them an advantage in meeting the tough
competition in the market. The use of
computer-supported CAD/CAM tech-
nology for design work is a significant
advantage. Via the Internet and dedicated
websites for different product areas,
Trelleborg’s designers can work online
with customers.

It is becoming increasingly impor-
tant to simulate the expected properties

innovation process
– a key success factor

Trel leborg’s

Leader in engine mount development
Noise and vibration suppression is a key area for improving the performance
of diesel engines. NVH (Noise, Vibration and Harshness) technology has
been a crucial factor in overcoming purchasers’ preconceived view that
diesel engines are noisy and vibration-prone. One of the greatest problems
facing manufacturers is that the vibration and noise are greater when the
ignition is first started than when the engine has warmed up. Trelleborg
Automotive has developed an electronically adjustable engine mount that
is ideal in such situations. An electronic adjustment device adapts the stiff-
ness and noise-suppression properties of the engine mount depending on
the engine and the vehicle’s speed.

The solution combines extremely soft suspension with a hydraulic
engine mount. By means of an electronic mechanism, the hydraulic
engine mount is connected to the soft suspension when the engine is running
in order to secure optimal noise suppression and stiffness. When the vehicle is
idling, the hydraulic engine mount is deactivated. Only the soft suspension is
then active, which reduces the stiffness and optimizes the NVH properties.
Trelleborg is producing the engine mount for a number of auto manufacturers.

WHEEL SYSTEMSAUTOMOTIVE
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Singapore’s new theater center “floats” on rubber
cushions from Trelleborg
Singapore’s new Esplanade theater complex, which was inaugurated during
2002, rests on rubber cushions supplied by Trelleborg Queensland Rubber.

An innovative new method using rubber bearings (Hi-Shear Bearings)
combines effective acoustic insulation with damping of the building’s lateral
movements. The solution eliminates the need for other bearings or struc-
tural elements, which reduced project costs and shortened the project
time. Trelleborg also supplied the acoustically insulated rubber bearings
that support the unique roof structure. A high-quality rubber mix was used,
with particularly good values for creep, energy absorption, compression and
the material’s capacity to absorb noise caused by low-frequency vibrations.

Thin-layer technology retains the favorable proper-
ties of black rubber in colored form
Black rubber has extremely good sealing and aging properties, but for
esthetic reasons demand is increasing for colored industrial profiles. How-
ever, the favorable characteristics of black rubber are normally diminished
in colored products, and production costs are also higher. The challenge for
Trelleborg Building Systems was to develop colored profiles with the same
physical characteristics as black ones, at only marginally increased cost.

The solution was Thin-layer technology (TLT/multicomponent composi-
tion). Aided by technological advances in extrusion and mixing, as well as
effective additives, a high-quality colored mix was developed that can be
applied in extremely thin layers. The black profile’s visible layer is coated
with a visible, thin colored layer, and the end result is a composite multi-
component product containing a small amount of colored material and
with excellent overall sealing and aging characteristics.

Thin-layer technology is used mainly for customers in the window
and door sector, but also has potential for other customer categories.

Rubber – a natural product
with exceptional properties

A natural product whose exceptional
properties were first discovered by
South American Indians provides the
basis for today’s advanced materials
know-how within Trelleborg.

Polymers consist of a long chain
of molecules – normally hydrocarbons
– that constitute the building blocks
in substances such as rubber and
plastics. Rubber exists in nature and
consists of the elements carbon and
hydrogen. This combination results
in exceptional natural properties.
Rubber is elastic, water-repellant and
moldable, and damps both noise and
vibrations.

Rubber was discovered by the
Indian population in South America,
who found that the sap from the
rubber tree, known as latex, had ex-
tremely interesting properties when
it hardened and came into contact
with heat. The latex could be molded
into elastic balls and combined with
other materials with intriguing results.
The material’s properties could also
be influenced by blending in various
plant extracts. The Indians were able
to make waterproof clothing and

R e s e a r c h  a n d  D e v e l o p m e n t

as early as possible in the development
chain. Advanced computer-supported
simulations can reduce the need for com-
plicated and time-consuming testing.
Moreover, for many applications it is
extremely difficult to conduct full-scale
tests. This is true of major infrastructure
projects, for example, in which Trelleborg
uses its know-how to develop increasingly
technically advanced solutions for roads,
bridges, tunnels, railways, and so forth.

Patents and brands
Trelleborg has more than 240 active patent
families (inventions that are patented or
have patents pending). The number of
patents varies between the business areas,
the largest number being in the Automotive
business area.

The number of registered brands
within the Group totals about 275.

boots from the rubber, which was
noted by the Europeans when they
arrived in South America. What the
Indians called “cahu cahu” – the tree’s
tears – became “caoutchouc,” and
thus the term for an entire new branch
of industry.

The properties of rubber were fur-
ther developed during the nineteenth
century. Englishman Charles Goodyear
discovered by chance that the
material’s properties could be im-
proved by adding sulfur. The process,
known as vulcanization, makes the
rubber more durable and less influ-
enced by the ambient temperature.

A breakthrough for rubber came
at the beginning of the twentieth
century, when synthetic rubber began
to be mass-produced. It was produced,
normally from petroleum (oil), using
a chemical process. Synthetic rubber
has similar properties to natural rub-
ber, and can also be “customized” for
various application areas by using
different mixes.

For certain applications – in the
Automotive area for example – the
properties of natural rubber remain
unsurpassed. Some 25 percent of the
rubber used by Trelleborg is natural
rubber, and the rest synthetic.

ENGINEERED SYSTEMS
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Trelleborg’s business concept, vision, strategies and objectives
describe the Group’s overall mission, which is to create value
for its customers, shareholders and employees.

The Group’s employees use the corporate culture and core
values developed over the years as guidelines for their everyday
work. These common values provide invaluable support to
Trelleborg as the Group expands rapidly into international mar-
kets, in part through overseas acquisitions. The work performed in
all areas of the Group must take into account the special require-
ments of customers while simultaneously utilizing the skills of
employees in many different cultural and social environments.

Through the adoption of shared core values, we create the
continuity necessary to build and protect a sustainable and suc-
cessful business.

Trelleborg’s operations are based on four core values:

Our core values

Customer focus

Performance
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Customer focus. All our decisions are
taken with the Group’s customers in mind,
since our success depends on their satis-
faction. Before undertaking an action, we
ask ourselves how this will produce added
value for the customer and, ultimately,
for Trelleborg. By customers we mean
both internal and external customers.

Performance. Trelleborg is a perfor-
mance-driven company. Our performance
is measured in all areas and at all levels,
and is based on our deep understanding
and knowledge of our business. The fo-
cus on performance is reflected in our
management-by-objectives policy and in
the compensation paid to employees.

Innovation. In Trelleborg’s demanding
business environment, where we mainly

Innovation

Responsibility

C o r e  v a l u e s

function as a sub-supplier, innovation in
the areas of product development, products
and processes is a necessity. We solve our
customers’ (and their customers’) problems
in a proactive manner, through innovative
product development combined with
high-quality, cost-efficient processes.

Responsibility. We believe that our
personnel want and have the courage to
assume responsibility. We all share respon-
sibility for the company as a whole and
for its results. We are not merely respon-
sible for our individual roles, departments
or functions. The aim is to have the right
people in the right place at the right time.
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Code of
Conduct

Trelleborg’s success in the market is depen-
dent on the company securing the confi-
dence of both the general public and
authorities. The basic prerequisites include
an outlook on mankind that is marked
by trust and respect, as well as the strict
observance of international laws and regu-
lations. It must be possible for all business
decisions in the Group to be defended
from a social and ethical perspective.

To define its approach, the Group
has created a Code of Conduct based on
its own core values. Various associated
policies, standards and control documents
have already been established for everyday
application by many of the individual
operating areas. In others, development
work is still in progress. The work to
produce a Code of Conduct and associ-
ated policies is seen as a gradual and on-
going process and is designed to reflect
local, national and international changes
in legislation, market conditions, and
social and cultural values.

Vision, business concept and objectives

Core values

Code of Conduct

Environmental  
Policy

Workplace  
Policy

Supplier- 
Relationship  

Policy
Future  
policies

Local guideline documents (policies, manuals,  
procedures, instructions, etc.)

For further information about Trelleborg’s Code of Conduct and the Group’s work to achieve
a sustainable society, separate brochures may be ordered via the website: www.trelleborg.com
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C o d e  o f  c o n d u c t

Trelleborg’s Code of Conduct and related policies have been prepared for the purpose of defining the Group’s basic approach to environmental, social and ethical
issues for its various stakeholders. The Code and policies are not intended to be legally binding documents, or to create or extend any guarantees or warranties.
Accordingly, they are not addressed to any specific party who may claim that legally binding rights can derive from these documents.

The fundamental principles in the
Trelleborg Code of Conduct are:

• We respect the rights of the indi-
vidual, act in accordance with fair
business, marketing and advertising
practices and are committed to con-
tinuously developing the safety and
quality of our products.

• We comply with laws and ordinances,
conduct our business with integrity
and honesty and are accountable for
our actions.

• We continually work to reduce the
impact of our operations on the
environment and health.

• We do not engage in illegal industry
cooperation.

• We do not accept the offering, re-
questing or acceptance of bribes.
We encourage our employees to
avoid situations in which loyalty to
the company may come into conflict
with other, personal interests.

These fundamental principles form the
basis for three specific associated policies
– for the environment, the workplace and
supplier relationships. The development
of these policies, with related manuals,
procedures and instructions, is an ongoing
process.

Environmental policy
In our approach to environmental issues
we comply with national and international
undertakings and endeavors to achieve a
sustainable society over the long term.
Our goal is that the activities of the
Trelleborg Group shall not harm the
environment or have a negative impact
on human health.

Workplace policy
Our fundamental principle is that we
respect our employees and their human
rights. The Workplace Policy addresses
important issues, such as that we do not
apply special treatment to employees

because of their gender, ethnic origin or
other distinguishing characteristics, that
we respect their rights to be represented
by trade unions, and that we do not allow
child labor.

Supplier-Relationship Policy
Trelleborg is committed to working with
suppliers who adhere to the Group’s
quality requirements and business prin-
ciples. We strive to support positive
changes in regard to quality, the natural
environment and the work environment.
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and the
Environment

People

Sustainable
development

Large and financially powerful companies
with operations in many countries often
have a considerable influence on develop-
ments in a region or country. And influ-
ence is coupled with responsibility. In
order to be able to act as a good corporate
citizen, Trelleborg and other companies
need to understand the expectations and
requirements of the local community.
Sustainable development within Trelleborg
means that we take into consideration:

• The impact of our operations on
people’s health and the surrounding
environment.

• The health and safety of employees,
as well as their personal development
and participation.

• That Trelleborg shall make a positive
contribution to social development
in the countries where the Group
operates. This may, for example, be
achieved through participation in
networks, open contacts with neigh-
bors and residents in municipalities,
and cooperation with schools and
universities.

People
Employees in many countries
Trelleborg has operations in more than 40
countries and production units in 21
countries. Of the Group’s approximately
15,000 employees, about 87 percent work
outside Sweden. The proportion of
women in the Group is approximately 22
percent. The proportion of female employ-
ees in upper and mid-level management
positions varies between 0 percent and 50
percent at the different plants.

As a result of economic fluctuations,
company acquisitions and divestments,

the number of employees within
Trelleborg periodically increases or de-
creases. During 2002, growth through
company acquisitions was limited, and
the Group reduced its workforce through
structural measures implemented, for
example, in the UK, the US, Sweden,
Germany and Mexico. Certain production
plants were closed, and some production
was geographically redistributed. The
personnel turnover (not counting layoffs)
varies between the different plants. Most
units report a personnel turnover of less
than 10 percent. As the change processes
proceed, great importance is attached to
ensuring that those concerned receive
satisfactory information about the changes.
During 2002, substantial efforts were
continued to support managers and
other employees affected by plant closures
and transfers of production.

Average number of employees by country

Distribution by country 2002 2001

France 2,852 3,014
USA 2,090 2,347
Sweden 1,966 2,054
UK 1,271 1,716
Germany 1,026 1,204
Spain 1,156 1,084
Other EU countries 718 876
China 647 723
Sri Lanka 676 694
Italy 639 632
Brazil 538 513
Other North and South
American countries 425 480
Other regions 490 2,198
Other European countries 391 402

Total 14,885 16,179

Average number of employees,
gender distribution

2002 2001

Men 11,658 12,566
Women 3,227 3,613

Total 14,885 16,179

Average number of employees by country

Prioritized long-term project to
strengthen corporate culture
The task of identifying, clarifying and
formulating the Group’s core values and
Code of Conduct was a major project
during 2002. The aim of the project is to
strengthen the development of a long-
term corporate culture that will support
the Group’s strategies and objectives. Parts
of this task will continue as an ongoing
process keeping pace with external changes
in legislation and economic, social and
cultural conditions, and with develop-
ments within the Group.

The Group’s core values serve as an
aid to managers and employees in their
day-to-day decision-making, and provide
support for the realization of the Group’s
business concept, vision and objectives.
Efforts were also initiated to assign a
clearer priority to key areas, initiatives
and activities, based on Trelleborg’s busi-
ness strategy and core values. This project
will gradually be expanded during 2003
to provide increased professional support
to further Group development.

Competence development and
training
The rapid change processes within the
Group place a major focus on leadership
and the supply of managers. In order to
preserve stability and the level of know-

Other 14%

Brazil 4%

Italy 4%

China 4%

Sri Lanka 
4%

Spain 8%

Germany 7%

UK 9%

Sweden 13%

USA  
14%

France 19%
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M ä n n i s k o r  o c h  m i l j ö

how, Trelleborg is concentrating on a
high proportion of internal recruitment.
The aim is that at least 75 percent of all
managers for senior executive positions
should be recruited internally. For some
years, Trelleborg has been building up a
base of internal management candidates.
Every year, in cooperation with the busi-
ness areas, a large number of candidates
are surveyed to assess their background,

plants. During 2002, the number of
hours of training per employee in these
areas averaged 4.4 (4.3).

Recruitment
Internal recruitment of managers also
needs to be supplemented with long-term
recruitment of competent personnel at
all levels from universities and institutes
of technology. In view of the critical need
to recruit recent graduates with engineer-
ing and business studies degrees, Trelleborg
has developed close relations with a num-
ber of educational institutions. During
the year, contacts were strengthened in
particular with German and French uni-
versities offering specialized programs in
areas that are important to Trelleborg.

Work environment aspects
Over the years, the work environment at
Trelleborg’s plants has been improved in
many ways. Despite the many measures
implemented, there are still a number of
work environment aspects that continue
to demand close attention. Examples of
such aspects include:

Fortunately, most work-related accidents
are not serious. In many cases, they occur
during manual work and consist of cuts,
burns and crushing injuries. The fre-
quency of accidents varies between the
different business areas. Activities are
under way in all business areas to reduce
the number of work-related accidents.

competence and development potential.
The development of managers is

supported by the Trelleborg International
Management Program (TIMP), in which
an increased emphasis was placed on
business skills and customer relations
during 2002. The program is primarily
aimed at persons who are at an early stage
in their management career. Company
knowledge, business skills, leadership
and understanding of cultural differences
are examples of the subjects covered by
TIMP. Some 40 persons from all parts
of the Group participate each year.

Focus on increased production
competence
Preparations started during the year for a
new program, called Excellence in Manu-
facturing, aimed at further increasing the
Group’s production competence. The
project will cover all business areas and a
number of activities, such as training,
opportunities for competence-enhancing
job exchanges across plant and national
boundaries, knowledge-building networks,
more attractive recruitment processes

and improved new-employee introduc-
tion activities. The program is expected
to begin during the first half of 2003.

Another Group-wide initiative in the
training area is Trelleborg Academy. The
training package, which is interactive, is
intended for all employees and can be
accessed on the Group-wide intranet.
Training in the environment and safety
areas is carried out regularly at the

• Exposure to chemicals, solvents and
vulcanizing fumes.

• Heavy lifting, repetitive work and
noise.

• Injuries caused by cuts, burns and
crushing.

During 2002, 826 employees (769) suf-
fered work-related injuries that resulted
in more than one day’s absence from work.
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Contacts with the community
Trelleborg has established broadly based

and well-functioning collaboration with

universities and institutes of technology

in Sweden and other countries. The

Group’s cooperation with the Interna-

tional Institute for Industrial Environ-

mental Economics (IIIEE) at Lund Uni-

versity was strengthened during 2002.

Several of Trelleborg’s plants act as ref-

erence plants for students and research-

ers, and the Group contributes to a pro-

fessorship at the institute.

Together with some 25 companies

and other organizations, Trelleborg par-

ticipates in the Global Environmental

and Ethical Partnership (GEEP), the pur-

pose of which is to foster dialog and dis-

seminate knowledge and research re-

sults in order to promote new thinking

and develop new strategies in response

to the challenges raised by the concept

of  sustainable development. The Group

also participates in a number of envi-

ronment-related activities in cooperation

with authorities, industry organizations

and other companies. An example is the

chemicals industry’s international envi-

ronmental program, Responsible Care.

Environment
Decentralized cooperation
Environment-related and work-environ-
ment-related activities within the
Trelleborg Group are decentralized and
based on the conditions prevailing at the
various plants. However, many plants
cooperate in informal groups in regard to
environmental issues and share a variety
of specialized expertise and experience with
each other. The formal responsibility for
issues relating to the environment, health
and safety is delegated to the respective
line organizations. The main share of
responsibility is borne by the plant man-
agers, who are required to conduct their
operations in accordance with:

• Trelleborg’s Code of Conduct, poli-
cies and overall values.

• Requirements set forth in legislation,
and other demands – from customers
and neighbors, for example.

• Controlling documents and guide-
lines from the Group, such as the
environmental policy, workplace
policy and standards.

• The requirements stated in the envi-
ronmental management standard,
ISO 14001.

Environmental objectives
The various plants develop long-term and
short-term environmental objectives and
action plans, which are followed up both
at the local level and in the Group’s envi-
ronmental reporting system. The objec-
tives most commonly adopted during
2002 related to:

• Introduction of ISO 14001 and
training in environment- and safety-
related issues.

• Measures for saving energy and water
• Reducing amounts of waste and

increasing the recycling of rubber
waste. At many plants this is carried
out in conjunction with the Con-
tinuous Improvement Program (CIP)

• Improving the work environment
and reducing the number of work-
related accidents.

• Reducing atmospheric emissions.

Environmental management system
The Trelleborg Group has production at
nearly 80 plants in more than 20 coun-

tries. A number of activities are under
way continuously with the aim of intro-
ducing and maintaining the ISO 14001
environmental management system at
Trelleborg’s plants. Since the ISO 14000
program was initiated in 1998, nearly 60
of the Group’s plants have been certified,
and the aim is to certify all plants. Restruc-
turing measures and the divestment of
operations has resulted in the disappear-
ance of some certificates. A total of 47 of
Trelleborg’s plant organizations currently
have certified environmental manage-
ment systems. During recent years, there
has been an increase in demands for sup-
plier certification from many of Trelleborg’s
customers, particularly in the automotive
industry. Accordingly, a number of
measures are being implemented within
the Automotive business area with the
aim of certifying plants in the US and
other parts of the world.

Environmental performance
The impact of Trelleborg’s operations on
the external environment is mainly attrib-
utable to:

• The utilization of natural resources
– primarily energy, water and raw
materials.

• The use of chemical products.
• Emissions to air, including for example

ISO 14001 certificates in various countries

Plants holding ISO 14001 certification

Norway 2%

Brazil 2% Mexico 2%

US 13%

Italy 2%

France 13%

Canada 2%

The Netherlands 4%
Denmark 2%

UK 13%
Spain 11%

Sweden 34%
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Year Energy consumption CO2 emissions VOC emissions Amounts of waste

GWh GWh/ Tons Tons/ Tons Tons/ Tons Tons/
employee employee employee employee

1998 623 0.04 85,000 6.1 516 0.04 25,500 1.8

1999 760 0.06 101,400 8.0 505 0.04 31,700 2.5

2000 1,012 0.08 129,200 10.5 1,189 0.1 33,000 2.7

2001 1,135 0.07 146,360 9.0 1,528 0.1 43,390 2.7

2002 1,136 0.08 129,000 8.7 1,735 0.1 47,360 3.2

Pe o p l e  a n d  t h e  E nv i r o n m e n t

Environment-related investments

solvents, vulcanizing fumes, dust
and odorous substances.

• Noise in the vicinity of plants.
• Generation of solid and liquid waste.
• The environmental impact of trans-

ports and products.
• Historical contamination of soil and

groundwater.

During the past five years, the focus of
Trelleborg’s operations has changed due
to the acquisition of a number of compa-
nies in the polymer industry, while opera-
tions focused on other areas have been
divested. Regarding the environmental
performance of the Group as a whole,
certain parameters, such as energy con-
sumption, atmospheric emissions and
waste amounts have increased since 1998.
This trend is attributable both to the
Group’s expansion and to the fact that
the nature of the acquired operations’
production is such that it generates emis-
sions and other forms of environmental
impact. This applies, for example, to
emissions of solvents (VOC) to the at-
mosphere and waste. The environmental
impact per employee has varied only
slightly in recent years. The changes in
key figures are due to a combination of
reduced environmental impact from sev-
eral plants, improved reporting systems
and fewer employees.

Examination and cleanup of con-
taminated soil is under way at around 15
plants.

Environmental legislation
The majority of Trelleborg’s production
plants require permits in accordance with
the environmental legislation in the coun-
tries where they are located. In Sweden,
Trelleborg conducts operations requiring
permits or subject to mandatory report-
ing at 14 plants. Each year, the Swedish
plants report emissions data and the extent
of compliance with conditions in separate

environmental reports, which are subject to
the approval of the respective supervisory
authority. Similar reports are submitted
to the authorities in a number of other
countries.

Environment-related finances
During 2002, total environment- and

work-environment-related costs and in-
vestments amounted to approximately
SEK 138 M (131).

Total environment-related invest-
ments, including wastewater treatment
plants, preventive measures and invest-
ments in improvements to the work en-
vironment amounted to SEK 67.9 M in
2002 (60.8), which corresponds to
around 9 percent (9) of total investments.
Substantial investments were made, for
example, at the plants in Tivoli, Värnamo
and Leicester. In many cases, the intro-
duction of an environmental manage-
ment system results in the identification
of opportunities for savings – for example
through the more efficient use of energy
and water, reduced waste amounts and
the utilization of recovered materials.
Savings reported for 2002 amounted to
approximately SEK 15 M (8).

Measures to alleviate external noise 8%

Soil  
cleanup 4%

           Improvements  
to waste management 3%

Improve- 
ments to  
work environ-  
ment 50%

Wastewater 
treatment  
11%

Air-cleaning 
equipment 24%
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Sustainability report
For the past five years, the Trelleborg

Group has published separate envi-

ronmental reports. After initially focus-

ing heavily on traditional environmen-

tal issues, the environmental reports

have increasingly focused on informa-

tion concerning social and community-

related issues. In keeping with this

trend, this year’s report is in the form

of a sustainability report which is pre-

sented as a separate report that

briefly supplements the information

contained in the Annual Report. As a

new innovation this year, we have de-

cided to publish details of Trelleborg’s

work in the sustainability area on the

Group’s Internet website.

Visit www.trelleborg.com to view

comprehensive information about

Trelleborg’s performance in the

sustainability area.
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Treasur y

The Group’s financial operations
The Group’s financial operations are
centralized in Group Staff Treasury in
Stockholm, which is responsible for
Trelleborg’s financing, financial risk man-
agement, internal bank operations and
other finance-related matters. Centraliza-
tion offers benefits of large-scale operations,
lower financing costs, efficient service to
Group companies, and better management
of the Group’s financial risks.

As a net borrower and due to its sub-
stantial operations outside Sweden, the
Trelleborg Group is exposed to various
financial risks. Trelleborg’s Board of Direc-
tors has established a policy for managing
these risks.

Within the framework of established
guidelines, there is also an opportunity to
conduct commercial trading in currency-
and interest-rate instruments. Positive
results were obtained from this form of
trading during the year. Commercial trad-
ing also contributes key market information
and perception, factors beneficial to the
management of the Group’s financial risks.

Trelleborg’s internal bank
The role of the Group’s internal bank is
to furnish Group companies with loans,
investments, currency transactions and a

Group account system in different cur-
rencies. During 2002, major emphasis
was placed on developing and generating
efficiency in internal processes, as well as
communications with Group companies.
All transactions and services are carried
out at market rates. The internal bank
also handles the Group’s netting system
for internal invoicing.

Financial risk management
Financing risks

Financing risk is defined as the risk that
the refinancing of loans that have fallen
due for payment may be difficult to arrange
or costly. The Group’s policy is that the
greater part of net debt should be covered
by shareholders’ equity and medium- and
long-term borrowing. During the year,
the Group raised a new five-year syndi-
cated loan of USD 600 M (approximately
SEK 5.3 billion). The loan provides effec-
tive long-term financing and solid pre-
paredness for the Group’s growth strategy.
Trelleborg also has a convertible deben-
ture loan in a nominal amount of SEK

261 M, which matures in 2004.
In addition to its long-term credit

facilities, Trelleborg has short-term (less
than one year) contracted credit totaling
SEK 4,530 M at its disposal to meet bor-

Operations

2. Interest-rate effect.  The effect on net interest income/expense of a
1 percentage-point increase in interest rates (SEK M, year-end rates).

1. Credit facilities granted* and due dates
as at December 31, 2002.

rowing requirements. As of December
31, 2002, the Group also had short-term
credit commitments amounting to approxi-
mately SEK 3,000 M.

The Group’s total contracted credit
facilities are shown in Chart 1 below.

At the end of 2002 the Group’s inter-
est-bearing loan liabilities amounted to
SEK 3,622 M (4,597). The change in liabili-
ties was due primarily to the decline in
value of liabilities in foreign currencies
due to the appreciation of the SEK in 2002.
Furthermore, the Group’s interest-bearing
investments have been reduced, resulting
in lower gross debt.

Interest-rate risks
Interest-rate risk is defined as the risk of a
negative impact on Group earnings due
to changes in market interest rates. How
quickly a lasting change in interest rates
affects the Group’s net interest income/
expense depends on the fixed-interest-rate
periods of the Group’s borrowing and
investments. As of December 31, 2002,
the fixed-interest-rate period for the
Group’s gross loan net debt of SEK 3,622
M amounted to three (one) months. The
fixed-interest-rate period for the Group’s
investments of SEK 660 M was 2.5 months
(2.5) as of year-end 2002. At the same

SEK M
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date, the fixed-interest-rate period for the
Group’s net debt was three months (one).
The Group’s interest-bearing net debt
amounts to approximately SEK 3,000 M.
Through loans from Sweden to foreign
subsidiaries, this net debt consists of in-
terest-bearing net receivables amounting
to approximately SEK 4,200 M, while inter-
est-bearing net debt in foreign currencies
amounts to approximately SEK 7,200 M.

Sensitivity analysis

With the present structure of interest-
bearing liabilities and investments, a change
of one percentage point in the interest
rate would have an impact on earnings
per year as shown in Chart 2, below.

Currency risks
With a high percentage of the Group’s
operations outside Sweden, changes in
foreign exchange rates have an impact on
the consolidated income statement and
balance sheet. Currency risks exist in the
form of both transaction risks and trans-
lation risks.

Exposure to translation risks in
the income statement
The effects of foreign exchange movements
have an impact on Group earnings when
the income statements of foreign subsidiar-
ies are translated to SEK. Since Group earn-
ings are generated to an increasing extent
outside Sweden, the impact on the consoli-
dated income statement is increasing.

In connection with the translation of the
income statements of foreign subsidiaries,
Group operating profit and net profit for
the year were affected negatively in the
amounts of SEK 25 M (positive: 88) and
about SEK 5 M (positive: 19), respectively,
primarily due to a depreciation of 6 per-
cent in the USD exchange rate and 1 per-
cent in the EUR rate.

A 5 percent depreciation of the SEK in
relation to the EUR, USD and GBP, which are
the currencies in those areas that the Group
has a majority of its operations would, as of
December 31, 2002, affect the operating
profit positively by SEK 28 M and net earn-
ings negatively by approximately SEK 1 M.

Exposure to translation risks in the

balance sheet

In connection with the translation of
Group investments in foreign subsidiaries
to SEK there is a risk that changes in ex-
change rates will have an effect on the con-
solidated balance sheet. In accordance with
Trelleborg’s currency policy, the Group’s
investments in foreign subsidiaries and as-
sociated companies may be hedged.  A de-
cision to hedge is made following an over-
all evaluation of foreign exchange levels
and the effects on costs, liquidity and taxes.

At the end of 2002 the Group’s net
investments in foreign subsidiaries and
associated companies amounted to ap-
proximately SEK 6,300 M. Net invest-
ments are mainly financed by loans in
local currencies.

3. Net assets outside Sweden SEK M

Diagram 3, below, shows the distribution
of the Group’s investments by currency.

Currency flow exposure

Currency flows that occur in connection
with the purchase and sale of goods and
services in currencies other than the local
currency of a Group subsidiary give rise
to flow exposure.

Because the Group’s production often
takes place in the currency area in which
the products are sold, Trelleborg’s flow
exposure is limited. The Group’s largest
flow exposure is attributable to exports
from Sweden that are denominated in
foreign currencies. The net inflow of for-
eign currencies into Sweden amounted to
about SEK 375 M. The total currency expo-
sure for the Group in countries outside
Sweden amounted to approximately SEK

700 M. At year-end 2002, about 15 per-
cent of the Group’s total currency exposure
was hedged.

The Trelleborg Group’s total net assets
outside Sweden amount to the equivalent
of approximately SEK 6.3 billion.
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Net sales
Net sales for the year totaled SEK 17,630
M (18,760), down by 3 percent at fixed
exchange rates for comparable units.

At fixed exchange rates, sales for the
Automotive business area were slightly
lower than for 2001 due to the market
trend and some phase-out of licensed
manufacturing.

Sales in the Wheel Systems business
area declined slightly as a result of a con-
tinued weak demand within primarily the
forest and agricultural sectors of the
Scandinavian market and the industrial
tires segment in North America and
Europe, particularly during the first half
of 2002.

Within Engineered Systems, sales in
2002 remained largely unchanged com-
pared with the preceding year.

Sales of industrial supplies declined
somewhat, while a rise was noted in sales
of project-related products.

Sales increased within Building Sys-
tems for comparable units, despite the
weak market conditions. The increase was
mainly attributable to the Nordic indus-
trial profiles business and roof coverings
in Denmark.

Earnings
Operating profit for the year amounted to
SEK 946 M (926).

Excluding non-comparable items, op-
erating profit totaled SEK 1,021 M (1,134).
Non-comparable items were negative in an
amount of SEK 75 M (neg: 208).

Operating profit improved for all busi-
ness areas in 2002, with the exception of
Automotive.

The lower level of earnings within
Automotive was mainly due to lower vol-
umes and a changed product mix.

In the Wheel Systems business area,
earnings improved mainly as a result of the
ongoing restructuring project, which led to
a reduced cost base, among other effects.

The earnings improvement within
Engineering Systems was also the result
of reduced cost levels, combined with a
more profitable product mix.

Higher volumes combined with in-
creased efficiency and cost reductions led to
the earnings improvement reported by the
Building Systems business area.

Participation in the results of associ-
ated companies amounted to SEK 140 M.

Profit after financial items amounted
to SEK 677 M (727).
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Net profit for the year totaled SEK 410 M
(515).

Earnings per share
During the year, a buy-back of the
company’s own shares was implemented,
with a positive effect on earnings per
share, which amounted to SEK 4.75 per
share (5.35) and SEK 7.25 per share
(7.45) excluding non-comparable items.

Cash flow and financial position
Cash flow from operations remained strong
and amounted to SEK 1,036 M (1,395).

Within Automotive, cash flow
declined to SEK 503 M (903) due to
lower operating earnings and an increased
level of investment and capital tied up
in operations.

Cash flow improved sharply in the
Group’s other business areas as a result of
their increased operating profit and the
release of tied-up capital.

The Group’s net debt at year-end
amounted to SEK 2,962 M (3,267). Liquid
funds totaled SEK 485 M (1,118), of
which shares held in Boliden accounted
for SEK 76 M (314).

Capital employed declined to SEK

9,886 M (10,451), of which approxi-
mately 50 percent of the reduction was
due to exchange-rate movements. The
return on capital employed, excluding
goodwill amortization, was 11.7 percent
(12.2). The return of capital employed
was 10.0 percent (10.6).

At year-end, shareholders’ equity
amounted to SEK 7,284 M (7,670), which
corresponded to SEK 87.05 (88.70) per
share.

Return on shareholders’ equity was
5.5 percent (6.3).

Changes in Group structure
During the year, operations in the US ma-
rine fender company Seaward International
Inc. were acquired and were integrated in
the Engineered Systems business area as of
December 2002.

Trelleborg White Goods in the Engi-
neered Systems business area, a produc-
tion unit supplying products for the UK
household appliances industry, was sold
during the year.

The operations within Metech
International Inc., which were reported
under Other companies, were also sold
in 2002.

Buy-back of shares
Trelleborg continued its share buy-back
program, which was started earlier for
the purpose of improving the Group’s
capital structure.

The 2002 Annual General Meeting
extended the mandate issued to the Board
earlier to buy back at most 10 percent
of the outstanding number of shares in
the company.

During the year, 2,959,800 shares
were purchased which, combined with
the holding at the beginning of the year,
resulted in Trelleborg having a total
holding of 6,920,600 of its own shares
at year-end 2002.

During the first week of January
2003, an additional 50,900 shares were
purchased.

Investments
Excluding acquisitions, total investments
in fixed assets during the year amounted
to SEK 739 M (642).

Notable large investments included
a new plant for products with industrial
antivibration applications in Leicester,
UK.
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Another was the expansion of the produc-
tion unit in Kalmar, Sweden, for the
manufacture of the sound-absorbing
material Duro-Lam.

Research and development
During 2002, the Group spent SEK 470 M
(495) on research and development, cor-
responding to 2.7 percent (2.6) of total
sales.  Most of the Group’s R&D costs
derive from the efforts being made in the
Automotive business area.

The development of an electronically
adjustable engine mount is one example
of the innovative development work con-
ducted within the business area. R&D
activities are described in more detail on
pages 38-39.

Environmental impact
The Group has approximately 80 pro-
duction plants in Europe, Asia and North
and South America. Most of the plants
require permits in accordance with the
country’s laws and are inspected regularly
by authorities. Some small units are not
classified as subject to licensing in accor-
dance with a country’s laws. In Sweden,
Trelleborg conducts operations that re-
quire permits or reporting at 14 plants.

The permit requirement pertains to the
scope of production and conditions relat-
ing to emissions into the air and water,
and to waste. Each year the Swedish
plants submit for approval by the indi-
vidual supervisory authorities separate
environmental reports containing emis-
sion data and showing the status of the
plants’ adherence to stipulated conditions.
Comparable reports are submitted to the
authorities in many other countries. The
Trelleborg Group’s operations affect the
exterior environment mainly through the
use of natural resources (energy, water,
raw material and chemical products),
through emissions into the air (solvents,
vulcanizing gases, dust and ill-smelling
substances), through noise and through
solid and liquid waste.

Most of the plants have permits that
are dated to the latter part of the 1990s.
Approximately 25 plants updated their
present permits or applied for new permits
during 2002. In Sweden, an application
is being made for a permit in Höganäs.
Violations of specific permit terms occurred
at Group plants in Turkey (emissions to
air), Germany (storage of hazardous sub-
stances), the US (waste, wastewater, work
environment), Sweden (noise, late sub-

mission of environmental report), the
UK (emissions to air), Italy (noise),
Spain (noise, wastewater), China (noise,
wastewater), France (noise, wastewater,
legionella bacteria), and the Netherlands
(deficient fire protection). The violations
have not caused significant interventions
by the authorities. Studies and cleaning
of polluted soil and ground water are
taking place at about 15 plants.

Other
During autumn 2002, there was an ongo-
ing debate over asbestos and the Group
provided a clarification for its American
distribution company, Goodall Inc.
Goodall and hundreds of other American
companies have been the targets of law-
suits regarding the handling of asbestos
products.  In these class-action lawsuits,
Goodall is considered to be on the periph-
ery.  In all instances, claims have been dis-
missed since no connection to Goodall
has been demonstrated.  Goodall has in-
surance coverage for, among other things,
asbestos-related claims.

Personnel
The average number of employees in
the Group decreased during the year to
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Capital structure
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14,885 (16,179). The percentage of
women employees was 22 percent (22).
Wages, salaries and other remuneration
amounted to SEK 4,013 M (4,221).
In Sweden, the average number of employ-
ees totaled 1,966 (2,054), of which 31
percent (29) were women.  The corre-
sponding average number of employees
for the other EU nations totaled 7,662
(8,526), of which 18 percent (20) were
women.  For the US, the figure was
2,090 (2,347) with 32 percent (33)
women, and for the rest of the world
2,090 (2,347), with the percentage of
female employees at 17 percent (17).

Work of the Board of Directors
Trelleborg’s Board of Directors consists of
seven members, including President and
Chief Executive Officer Fredrik Arp, who
are elected by the Annual General Meeting.
The employees appoint three members
and one deputy member of the Board.
Other company executives participate in
Board meetings, to make presentations
and in an administrative capacity.
Trelleborg AB’s General Counsel is also
the Board Secretary.

During the 2002 fiscal year, the
Board held five (four) scheduled meetings

and one (two) special meeting. The work
of the Board follows an agenda that is de-
signed to meet the Board’s information
requirements and is structured in accor-
dance with the special work procedures
established by the Board with respect to
the division of duties between the Board
and the President of the Company. The
Board also conducts an annual review of
the company’s business with the auditor.

A Compensation Committee within
the company, acting under the direction
of the Board Chairman, deals with matters
related to salaries and terms of employment
for the President and prepares guidelines
for executives who report directly to the
President. During the period up to the
2003 Annual General Meeting, this com-
mittee consists of the Board Chairman
and Didrik Normark.

The company has no Nominating
Committee. Nomination issues are
handled through the Chairman of the
Board consulting with representatives of
the principal owners in ample time prior
to the General Meeting.

Outlook
Industrial production is expected to make
a weak start to the year, with potential for

gradually stronger development in the
second half of 2003. Vehicle production
is expected to be somewhat weaker than
the preceding year, both in the US and
Europe.

Trelleborg is implementing a number
of measures to meet the uncertainty sur-
rounding economic conditions, primarily
with regard to volume growth in the
American automotive market and demand
in the European industrial sector.

The Group will continue to focus on
cost efficiency and a favorable cash flow.

All business areas have initiated or
planned measures to improve the operat-
ing margin. These measures will generate
marginal improvements corresponding to
about 1 percentage point within 12-24
months. In addition, today’s higher level
of raw material prices offers potential for
improvement if the weak economic con-
ditions remain unchanged. Comprehen-
sive efforts will be made in all business
areas to increase organic growth. In parallel
with the efforts outlined above, work is
also in progress in accordance with an
established strategy to strengthen the
Group’s positions via acquisition.
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SEK M Note 2002 2001

Net sales 1 17,630 18,760
Cost of goods sold –13,762 –14,789

Gross profit 3,868 3,971

Selling expenses –1,467 –1,452
Administrative costs –1,208 –1,292
Research and development costs –470 –495
Non-comparable items 4 –75 –208
Other operating revenue 5 312 546
Other operating expense 5 –154 –283
Result from participation in associated companies 6 140 139

Operating profit 2,3,7 946 926

Financial income and expense 8 –119 –158
Non-comparable items related to Boliden 8 –150 –41

Profit after financial items 677 727

Tax on profit for the year 9 –253 –200
Minority interest in profit for the year 10 –14 –12

Net profit 410 515

Profit excluding non-comparable items

SEK M 2002 2001

Operating profit 1,021 1,134
Profit after net financial items 902 976
Net profit 622 720

Income statement per quarter

Jan-March April-June July-Sept Oct-Dec
SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Net sales 4,543 4,718 4,787 4,899 4,186 4,609 4,114 4,534
Operating profit before
   non-comparable items 206 299 309 320 244 266 262 249
Profit after net financial items,
   excluding non-comparable items 173 260 280 280 210 222 239 214
Net profit 124 110 130 190 54 154 102 61
Net profit excluding
   non-comparable item 124 183 190 190 140 153 168 194

Earnings per share 2002 2001

Earnings, SEK 4.75 5.35
Earnings, excluding non-comparable items, SEK 7.25 7.45
Earnings, excluding non-comparable items and goodwill amortization, SEK 8.95 9.00
Earnings after dilution, SEK 4.65 5.20

Number of shares
Average, 2002 86,150,341 96 512,234
Average, 2002 after dilution 90,492,676 100,731,462

1) Net earnings have been adjusted for goodwill amortization, net, after tax 148 151

2) Net earnings have been adjusted for interest, net, after tax 10 10

Consolidated Income Statement
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Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

The fender systems operations of Seaward
International Inc are included in the in-
come statement and balance sheet as of
December 1, 2002. During the year, the
operations in Metech International Inc
and Trelleborg White Goods were sold.
These operations are included in the con-
solidated income statement and bal-
ance sheet up until the divestment date.

Net sales
The Group’s net sales in 2002 amounted
to SEK 17,630 M (18,760). Of the Group’s
total net sales, 92 percent (87) were attrib-
utable to markets outside Sweden. Net
sales were divided as follows: approximately
one third  in U.S, dollars and two thirds in
other currencies, mainly euro. Total net
sales of comparable units were 3 percent
lower.

Operating profit
Group operating profit amounted to SEK

946 M (926). Excluding non-comparable
items, Group operating profit amounted
to SEK 1,021 M (1,134). Trelleborg Auto-
motive reported a lower operating profit
than in 2001, while the other business
areas showed improved operating profit
compared with the preceding year.

Pretax participation in the results of
subsidiaries amounted to SEK 140 M
(139). Of this, SEK 106 M (121) was attrib-
utable to the Trenor Group. The decrease
in earnings was mainly due to Ahlsell but
Bröderna Edstrand also showed weaker
earnings than in 2001.

Non-comparable items amounted to
a loss of SEK 75 M (loss 208). These items
consisted of capital losses in connection
with the sale of the operations in Metech
and White Goods, restructuring costs
within the Trenor Group and costs related
to Boliden.

Result after financial items
The Group’s net financial expense
amounted to SEK 119 M (expense: 158),
equal to 3.7 percent of average net debt
for the year. The financial net was posi-

tively affected by borrowing in
foreign currency and investments
in SEK. Financial non-comparable
items were negative in an amount
of SEK 150 M (neg: 41) and con-
sisted of a revaluation of the Group’s
holding of shares in Boliden to the
market price at year-end.

Profit after net financial items,
excluding non-comparable items,
amounted to SEK 902 M (976),
Including non-comparable items,
profit after net financial items
amounted to SEK 677 M (727).

Net profit
Tax expense for the year amounted
to SEK 253 (200), of which SEK 13 M
(43) was attributable to non-com-
parable items and SEK 55 M (58) to
participation in the results of associ-
ated companies. Paid tax amounted
to SEK 25 M (141).

Net profit for the year
amounted to SEK 410 M (515),
equal to earnings of SEK 4.75
(5.35) per share. Excluding non-
comparable items, net profit was
SEK 622 M (720), equal to earnings of SEK

7.25 (7.45) per share.
Excluding non-comparable items

and amortization of goodwill, net profit
amounted to earnings of SEK 8.95 (9.00)
per share.

19991998 2000 2001 2002
Net sales, 
SEK M

Operating profit excluding  
non-comparable items, SEK M

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

0

0

000

1500

0

0050000

000000000

1,500

Net sales                                    Operating profit

19991998 2000 2001 2002

0

1

6

7

8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Operating margin
(ROS), %

Return on capital employed (ROA), %

Return on capital employed, excl.  
amortization of goodwill (ROA - ex), %

ROA                                                            ROS



56

December 31, SEK M Note 2002 2001

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets 11 2,627 2,958

Tangible fixed assets 12 5,007 5,293

Financial fixed assets 13–17 1,108 1,182

Total fixed assets 8,742 9,433

Current assets

Inventories 18 2,082 2,428

Current receivables 19, 20 4,091 4,743

Short-term investments 21 76 354

Cash and bank deposits 409 764

Total current assets 6,658 8,289

TOTAL ASSETS 15,400 17,722

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 22

Restricted equity

Share capital 2,265 2,265

Restricted reserves 1,898 2,076

Total restricted equity 4,163 4,341

Non-restricted equity

Non-restricted reserves 2,711 2,834

Net profit for year 410 515

Total non-restricted equity 3,121 3,349

Total shareholders’ equity 7,284 7,690

Minority interest 10 125 139

Provisions

Provision for pensions and similar provisions 238 336

Provision for deferred tax 17 46 64

Other provisions 23 751 909

Total provisions 1,035 1,309

Long-term liabilities

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 24,25 3,369 4,220

Other long-term liabilities 26 64 96

Total long-term liabilities 3,433 4,316

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing current liabilities 24 15 41

Other current liabilities 26,27 3,508 4,227

Total current liabilities 3,523 4,268

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 15,400 17,722

Contingent liabilities 28 414 425

Pledged assets 28 156 413

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Assets
The Group’s total assets amounted to SEK

15,400 M (17,722). The decrease was
attributable primarily to the divestment of
operations, less working capital tied up in
operations and currency translation effects.

Excluding acquired units, gross in-
vestments for the year amounted SEK 739
M (642). Group depreciation, excluding
amortization of goodwill, amounted to
SEK 686 M (736).

The booked value of Group partici-
pations in the Trenor Group amounted
to SEK 240 M (177) and is included
among financial fixed assets.

Short-term investments at year-end
amounted to SEK 76 M (354) and related
to the Group’s holding of Boliden shares.

Cash and bank deposits at December
31, 2002 amounted to SEK 409 M (764).

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
As of December 31, 2002, shareholders’
equity amounted to SEK 7,284 M  (7,690).

During the year, 2,959,800 Trelleborg
shares were repurchased by the Company.
At year-end, Trelleborg’s holding for its
own account amounted to 6,920,600
shares. Excluding Trelleborg’s own holding,
the number of shares outstanding at year-
end was 83,686,772. Repurchases made
during the year reduced shareholders’
equity by SEK 218 M. A dividend of SEK

347 M was paid to the shareholders.
As of December 31, 2002, share-

holders’ equity per share amounted to SEK

87.05 (88.70). The return on shareholders’
equity was 5.5 percent (6.3). Excluding
non-comparable items, the return on
shareholders’ equity was 8.3 percent (8.9),
and excluding non-comparable items and
amortization of goodwill, the return was
10.3 percent (10.7).

Minority interests totaled SEK 125 M
(139).

Provisions amounted to SEK 1,035 M
(1,309). Excluding provisions for pension
liabilities and deferred taxes, other provi-
sions amounted to SEK 751 M (909), of

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

which SEK 382 M was accounted for by
restructuring projects related to the acqui-
sitions of BTR AVS and LACD. During
the year, SEK 207 M was utilized for these
restructuring projects and SEK 95 M of the
provision made in 2001 for restructuring
within Wheel Systems was utilized.

Interest-bearing liabilities amounted
to SEK 3,384 M (4,261).

Net indebtedness at year-end 2002
amounted to SEK 2,962 M (3,267). The
Group’s net cash flow totaled SEK 69 M.
The equity/assets ratio at year-end 2002
was 48.1 percent (44.2). The debt/equity
ratio was 40.0 percent (41.7).

Equity/assets ratio and shareholders’ equity
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

SEK M 2002 2001

Ongoing operations
Operating profit 946 926
Reversals
Depreciation 854 903
Non-comparable items 75 208
Result from participations in associated companies –140 –139

1,735 1,898

Financial items 88 –534
Paid tax –25 –141

Cash flow from ongoing operations
   before changes in working capital 1,798 1,223

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Changes in inventories -15 240
Changes in operating receivables 151 420
Changes in operating liabilities -184 -634
Utilization of restructuring reserves/payments
   received related to pensions -279 66

Cash flow from ongoing operations 1,471 1,315

Investment operations
Acquired units1) -133 -322
Restructuring measures in acquired units, etc -178 -223
Divested units1) 127 91
Gross investments in tangible and intangible assets –739 –642
Sale of equipment 88 113

Cash flow from investment operations –835 –983

Financing operations
Change in interest-bearing investments 30 13
Changes in interest-bearing liabilities –514 1 088
Dividend paid –347 –362
Dividend to minority interests –2 –52
Repurchase of Trelleborg shares –218 –1 135

Cash flow from financing operations –1,051 –448

Cash flow for the year –415 –116

Liquid funds, January 1 1,118 1,226
Result from shares in Boliden Ltd –150 –41
Exchange-rate difference in liquid funds –68 49

Liquid funds, December 31 2) 485 1,118

1) Acquired and divested units in 2002 Acquired Divested
SEK M units units

Fixed assets 103 60
Working capital 30 67

Total 133 127

2) Liquid funds: 2002 2001

Cash and bank deposits 409 764
Short-term investments 76 354

Total at year-end 485 1,118
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As of December 31, 2002, the Group
had net liabilities of SEK 2,962 M (3,267).
The cash flow from ongoing operations
amounted to SEK 69 M. Other changes
during the year were due to the revaluation
of the shareholding in Boliden, negative
effect of SEK 150 M, and the impact of
currency exchange rates.

Cash flow from operations amounted
to SEK 1,036 M (1,395).

Excluding acquired units, gross
investments totaled SEK 739 M (642).
Acquisitions, including restructuring
costs in acquired units, increased net
debt by SEK 311 M. Company shares
were repurchased in the amount of SEK

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Finansiella tillgångar och skulder

MSEK 2002 2001

Långfristiga placeringar 160 197
Kortfristiga finansiella fordringar 15 15
Kortfristiga placeringar 76 354
Kassa och bank 409 764

Summa finansiella tillgångar 660 1,330

Avgår:
Räntebärande avsättningar –238 –336
Räntebärande långfristiga skulder –3,369 –4,220
Räntebärande kortfristiga skulder –15 –41

Nettoskuldsättning –2,962 –3,267

Cash flow report

2002 Op.profit/loss, excl. Depreciation, Amortization Gross Sold change Total 2001
associated companies excl. goodwill of goodwill investments fixed in working operating

and non-comparable  assets capital cash flow
SEK M items

Trelleborg Automotive 568 394 114 -474 23 -122 503 903

Trelleborg Wheel Systems 128 120 19 -141 10 55 191 104

Trelleborg Engineered Systems 198 105 18 -87 25 -8 251 199

Trelleborg Building Systems 152 48 17 -31 16 23 225 172

Group items -159 8 -4 0 20 -135 -162

Other companies -6 11 -2 14 -16 1 179

Operating cash flow 881 686 168 -739 88 -48 1,036 1,395

Acquisitions, include restructuring
   measures in acquired companies -311 -545

Divestments 127 91

Dividend to shareholders -347 -362

Buy-back of own shares -218 -1,135

Other (financial transactions, taxes, etc) -218 -661

Total net cash flow 69 -1,217

Investments and depreciation
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218 M (1,135). The dividend to
shareholders was SEK 347 (362) M.

Long-term investments
Long-term investments totaled
SEK 160 M (197).

Liquid funds
Liquid funds at year-end amounted
to SEK 485 M (1,118) and included
the Group’s holding in Boliden
with a book value of SEK 76 M (314).

Liabilities
As of December 31, 2002, the
Group’s interest-bearing provi-
sions and liabilities amounted to
SEK 3,622 M (4,597). The Group’s
liabilities to credit institutions
amounted at year-end to SEK

2,934 M (3,967), of which short-
term liabilities accounted for SEK

13 M (31). The Group has approved
credit facilities totaling SEK 10,227
M, which expire during the period
2003-2007.
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INCOME STATEMENTS

SEK M Note 2002 2001

Selling expenses – –
Administrative expenses 29-30, 33 –204 –196
Non-comparable items 31 –11 28
Other operating revenue 32 149 102
Other operating expenses 32 –29 –6

Operating loss –95 –72

Financial income and expense 34 236 –86

Profit/loss after financial items 141 –158

Tax on result for year 35 –3 7

Net profit/loss for the year 138 –151

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

SEK M 2002 2001

Ongoing operations
Profit/loss after financial items 141 –158
Reversals
Depreciation 3 4
Write-down of shares in subsidiaries 173 125

317 –29

Paid tax –1 –2

Cash flow from ongoing operations
   before changes in working capital 316 –31

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase/decrease in inventories 2 –1
Increase/decrease in receivables 41 –9
Increase/decrease in operating liabilities –7 –37
Changes in other receivables and liabilities 23 –53

Cash flow from ongoing operations 375 –131

Investment operations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, capital contribution –358
Group contributions 18
Divestment of subsidiaries 1 0
Investments in tangible fixed assets –1
Sale of equipment 5 8

Cash flow from investment operations 6 –333

Financing operations
Change in financial investments 598 453
Change in financial liabilities –605 1,534
Repurchase of Trelleborg shares –218 –1,135
Dividend paid, cash –347 –362

Cash flow from financing operations –572 490

Cash flow for year –191 26

Liquid funds, January 1 245 219
Liquid funds, December 31 1) 54 245

1) Liquid funds

Cash and bank deposits 54 157
Short-term investments – 88

Liquid funds, December 31 54 245

Trelleborg AB (Parent Company) Income and Cash Flow Statements
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BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, SEK M Note 2002 2001

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 36 26 34

Financial fixed assets 37-39 10,846 10,787

Total fixed assets 10,872 10,821

Current assets

Inventories 40 4 6

Current receivables 41-42 2,095 3,133

Short-term investments 43 - 88

Cash and bank deposits 54 157

Total current assets 2,153 3,384

TOTAL ASSETS 13,025 14,205

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 44

Restricted equity

Share capital 2,265 2,265

Share premium reserve 15 15

Legal reserve 904 904

Total restricted equity 3,184 3,184

Non-restricted equity

Profit brought forward 1,400 2,116

Profit/loss for year 138 -151

Total non-restricted equity 1,538 1,965

Total shareholders’ equity 4,722 5,149

Provisions

Provisions for pensions and similar provisions 5 7

Other provisions 45 5 5

Total provisions 10 12

Long-term liabilities

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 46 7,697 8,120

Other long-term, liabilities 47 8 8

Total long-term liabilities 7,705 8,128

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing current liabilities 46 436 618

Other current liabilities 47-48 152 298

Total current liabilities 588 916

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 13,025 14,205

Contingent liabilities 49 616 700

Pledged assets 49 156 413

Trelleborg AB (Parent Company) Balance Sheets
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Accounting and

The Trelleborg Group’s accounts follow
the recommendations of the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council.

Consolidated accounts
Group coverage

The Consolidated accounts comprise the
Parent Company, all subsidiaries and asso-
ciated companies. Subsidiaries are compa-
nies in which the Parent Company, directly
or indirectly, owns more than 50 percent
of the voting rights or in which Trelleborg
otherwise has a decisive influence. Associ-
ated companies are companies in which
the Parent Company, directly or indirectly,
has a long-term holding amounting to not
less than 20 percent and not more than 50
percent of the voting rights.

Principles of consolidation

Company acquisitions have been reported
in accordance with the Acquisition ac-
counting method. In this method the
acquisition value of identifiable net assets
is established at date of acquisition. If the
acquisition results in a need for restruc-
turing measures, provisions are posted for
restructuring costs at the time of acquisi-
tion. The difference between purchase
price and market value of acquired iden-
tifiable net assets is shown as goodwill or
negative goodwill.

Accordingly, companies acquired
during the fiscal year are included in the
consolidated accounts from this date of
acquisition.

Companies sold during the year are
included in the consolidated accounts up
to and including the date of divestment.

Translation of foreign subsidiaries

The Trelleborg Group applies the so-called
current-rate method when translating
income statements and balance sheets of
foreign subsidiaries.

Thus, all items in the income state-
ment are translated at the average rate for
the year, while all items in the balance

sheet, with the exception of the net result
for the year, are translated at the year-end
rate. Companies in high-inflation countries
are exceptions to this principle. The income
statements and balance sheets of subsidiar-
ies active in countries with a high rate of in-
flation are initially translated to USD or EUR

in accordance with the monetary method.
The amounts are then recalculated accord-
ing to the current-rate method, based on
the year-end rate for both the income state-
ment and the balance sheet.

Accumulated translation differences
pertaining to the translation of subsidiaries
are shown beginning in 1998.

Associated companies

Holdings in associated companies are
reported in accordance with the equity
method. Participation in the profits of
associated companies is shown at two levels
of the Consolidated Income Statement.
• Group participation in pre-tax earnings

of associated companies, and depre-
ciation of, or reversal, of any acquired
surplus or deficit values, are included
in consolidated operating earnings.

• The Group’s share of the associated
companies’ tax expense is included
in Group tax expense.

In the Consolidated Balance Sheet, par-
ticipations in the results of associated
companies are shown under financial
fixed assets. The consolidated book value
of the holding corresponds to the Group’s
share in shareholders’ equity of the associ-
ated companies and any residual value of
surpluses or deficits that arise in an acqui-
sition calculation. Undistributed partici-
pations in the profits of associated com-
panies are shown in shareholders’ equity
among restricted reserves.

Taxes

Income taxes are included in the consoli-
dated accounts and consist of current tax
and deferred tax. Taxes are shown in the

Income Statement except when an under-
lying transaction is reported directly in
shareholders’ equity, in which case the
related tax effect is reported in shareholders’
equity. A current tax is a tax that is to be
paid or received for the current year. This
also includes adjustments of current taxes
attributable to earlier periods.

Deferred tax is calculated in accor-
dance with the balance-sheet method,
based on temporary differences between
reported and tax values of assets and liabili-
ties. Amounts are calculated based on the
manner in which the temporary differ-
ences are expected to be settled, and by
applying the tax rates and tax regulations
approved or announced as of the account-
ing date. Temporary differences are not
recognized in Group goodwill or in dif-
ferences attributable to participations in
subsidiaries and associated companies
that are not expected to be taxed in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax receivables in deductible
temporary differences and loss carry-
forwards are shown only if it is likely that
they will result in lower tax payments in
the future.

Minority interest

Minority interest in results for the year is
shown in the Consolidated Income State-
ment as a share of earnings after tax. In
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, minority
interest in shareholders’ equity of subsid-
iaries is shown as a separate item.

Other accounting and valuation
principles
Revenues

Revenues are recognized during the period
the product is delivered or the service is
performed. Revenues are reported net,
after deduction of VAT and discounts,
and at the actual value of what has been
received or will be received. Contract as-
signments are recognized in accordance
with the percentage-of-completion prin-

Valuation Principles
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ciple. Interest income is accrued to achieve
an even return during the holding period.

Research and development

The Group’s expenditures for research and
development are expensed as they occur.

Other operating revenues and expenses

External rent revenues, income from sales
and scrapping of tangible fixed assets and
tools are reported as other operating rev-
enues and expenses.

Loan cost

Loan costs are expensed in the period to
which they pertain, regardless of how the
borrowed funds have been used.

Depreciation

If, at the end of an accounting period,
there is indication that an intangible or
tangible fixed asset has declined in value,
the recovery value of the asset is calculated,
meaning is the higher of the net sale value
and the expected future discounted cash
flow. If the estimated recoverable value is
less than the reported value, a write-down
is made to the asset’s recoverable value.
Depreciation is reversed if there is a
change in recovery value, except in the
write-down of goodwill.

Intangible and tangible fixed assets

Goodwill is amortized in accordance with
a plan based on estimated useful life.
Goodwill arising in connection with acqui-
sitions of companies of long-term strategic
value is estimated to have a useful life of
20 years.

Other intangible assets are amortized
at rates between 10 percent and 20 per-
cent per year.

Tangible assets are reported at their
historical acquisition value, less accumu-
lated depreciation according to plan and,
where applicable, write-downs.

Depreciation according to plan is
based on the historical acquisition cost

and estimated useful life of an asset.
Depreciation rates between 5 percent

and 33 percent are applied for machinery
and equipment, and rates between 1.5
percent and 6 percent for buildings.

Leasing

Leasing is classified as either financial
leasing or operational leasing. Reporting
of financial leasing means that the fixed
asset is reported as an asset in the balance
sheet and the obligation to pay leasing
fees in the future is reported as a financial
liability. At the start of the leasing period,
the asset and the liability are reported at
the leasing object’s actual value or at the
current value of the minimum leasing fee
if this is lower. The fixed asset is depreci-
ated according to plan, while leasing pay-
ments are divided between interest and
repayment of the debt.

In operational leasing, no fixed assets
or financial liabilities are reported. The leas-
ing fee is reported as an operating expense.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign

currencies

Receivables and liabilities in foreign curren-
cies are valued at year-end rates. When
hedging through forward contracts is
applied, the current rate on the date of
hedging is used for the valuation of the
underlying receivable or liability. The dif-
ference between the forward rate and the
current rate at the time the contract is
signed is distributed over the term of the
contract. Income recognition of hedging
through forward contracts is effected at
maturity of the underlying transaction,
or on expiry. If the currency hedging per-
tains to estimated future commercial
flows, and a receivable or liability has not
arisen, the valuation of these contracts
has not affected the accounts.

Other currency contracts are com-
puted at market value in accordance with
the same principles as those applying to
receivables and liabilities in foreign cur-

rencies. Advances from customers, or to
suppliers, have not been revalued but are
shown at the rate applicable when the ad-
vance was received or made.

The Group has taken up loans or
written forward contracts or options in
foreign currencies to offset investments
in foreign subsidiaries.

Loans and contracts are valued in the
respective parent company at the historical
rate. In the Consolidated Balance Sheet
these items are valued at the year-end
rate, whereby exchange differences are
charged directly against shareholders’
equity after adjustment for tax.

Exchange differences related to cur-
rent operations are reported in operating
profit, while exchange differences of a
financial nature are reported in financial
income and expense.

Inventories and receivables

Inventories are valued in accordance with
the lower-of-cost-or-market principle,
based on the first-in/first-out (FIFO)
principle and actual value at year-end.
Actual value pertains to the net sales value
or replacement cost. Deductions have
been made for obsolescence and internal
profits generated by intra-Group sales.

Receivables have been reported in the
amounts expected to be realized. The value
of uncertain receivables is calculated on
the basis of individual assessments.

Liquid funds

Liquid funds includes all current invest-
ments, including shares.

Shareholder and Group contributions

Shareholder contributions are capitalized
as shares and participations to the extent
that no write-downs are necessary.

Group contributions are provided in
order to minimize Group tax expense.
Group contributions are reported directly
against shareholders’ equity, after adjust-
ment for tax.
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Note 2
Employees and costs

Average number of employees 2002    2001
Number Number
Women Men Total Women Men Total

Sweden 615 1,351 1,966 594 1,460 2,054
France 642 2,210 2,852 728 2,286 3,014
Italy 48 591 639 45 587 632
Spain 222 934 1,156 279 805 1,084
UK 231 1,040 1,271 316 1,400 1,716
Germany 154 872 1,026 180 1,024 1,204
Other EU countries 92 626 718 136 740 876

Total EU countries 2,004 7,624 9,628 2,278 8,302 10,580

Other European countries 76 315 391 68 334 402
USA 672 1,418 2,090 772 1,575 2,347
Brazil 70 468 538 68 445 513
Other North and South
   American countries 113 312 425 122 358 480
China 201 446 647 225 498 723
Sri Lanka 30 646 676 28 666 694
Other regions 61 429 490 52 388 440

Total 3,227 11,658 14,885 3,613 12,566 16,179

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

Note 1
Net sales

By geographical market

SEK M 2002 2001

Sweden 1,440 1,632
France 2,632 2,666
Italy 812 945
Spain 798 752
UK 1,372 1,720
Germany 2,417 2,549
Other EU countries 1,856 1,838

Total EU countries 11,327 12,102

Other European countries 824 787
USA 3,443 3,788
Other North and South American countries 1,221 1,305
Other regions 815 778

Total 17,630 18,760

Net sales and operating profit/loss by business area

2002 2001
Net Operating Net Operating

SEK M sales profit/loss sales profit/loss

Trelleborg Automotive 9,297 601 9,777 747
Trelleborg Wheel Systems 2,968 128 3,127 93
Trelleborg Engineered Systems 3,318 198 3,369 181
Trelleborg Building Systems 1,880 154 1,794 138
Group-wide expenses –160 –154
Elimination of intra-Group sales –304 –317 –

Core operations 17,159 921 17,750 1,005

Trenor/Distribution sector 106 – 121
Other companies 471 –6 1,010 8
Non-comparable items –75 – –208

Trelleborg Group 17,630 946 18,760 926

When translating the results of foreign subsidiaries, changes in currency exchange
rates compared with 2001 led to sales being adversely affected by 3 percent and
operating profit by 2.5 percent.

Trend of Trelleborg’s most important currencies:
                                 2002                                               2001

                       Average             Year-end Average Year-end
rate  rate rate rate

EUR 9.1626 9.2018 9.2522 9.424
USD 9.7199 8.8263 10.3287 10.67
GBP 14.5758 14.1538 14.8713 15.48
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During 2002 remuneration of SEK 450 K (300) was paid to the Chairman. The other
five Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting, who are not employees
of the Group, received a total of SEK 900 K (1,050), with each member receiving
SEK 180 K.

The President, who is also the Chief Executive Officer, received a fixed salary,
variable salary and other compensation totaling SEK 6,852 K (5,963). Of this total,
the variable salary amounted to SEK 1,434 K (1,200). The variable salary has an
established upper limit and is based to 80 percent on the Trelleborg Group’s pre-
tax profit, excluding non-comparable items and to 20 percent on the Group’s
growth and constitutes pensionable income.

In accordance with an agreement, the President has the right to retire at age
60 with compensation amounting to 60 percent of normal salary between the age of
60-65, when a premium-based occupational pension is paid. For this purpose, pen-
sion premiums of SEK 2,656 K (2,131) have been expensed. In addition, variable
compensation for 2000 and 2001 has been converted to pension premiums and
was charged against earnings for the year in an amount of SEK 3,111 K (0). The
variable salary agreement is based on the trend of the Trelleborg share price in
2000-2001 and was signed in 1999. Similar agreements have been signed for the
period 2002-2004.

In his employment contract, the President has a provision entitling him to 24
months notice of termination by the Company.

The principles for compensating other senior members of executive manage-
ment are based on both a fixed and variable salary. The variable part has an esta-

blished upper limit and accounts for about 25 percent of total salary. This group of
executives is also included in the Trelleborg Group’s call options program and hold
agreements specifying mutual rights to request early retirement beginning at age
60 or 62.
In this connection, compensation amounting to 60-65 percent of the executive’s
salary is normally paid until age 65, when the regular retirement pension payments
become effective. Extended notice-of-termination periods – commonly 18 or 24
months – are also applied by the Company in the case of these persons.

During 2000 an annually recurring call-options program was introduced for
senior executives within the Group.  The program has been in effect for three years
and is irrevocable. In 2002, it comprised a minimum of 5,000 options per person,
and a maximum of 40,000. The President and Chief Executive Officer was allotted,
free of charge,40,000 options with a total market value of SEK 236 K. Senior
members of executive management were allotted, free of charge, a total of
290,000 options with a total market value of SEK 1,711 K. Costs for this, in the
form of payroll overhead, were charged against earnings for the year in an amount
of SEK 600 K. Other effects are reported as dilution effects, see page 17.

Please refer to the Trelleborg Share in 2002 on pages 14-15 for additional
information about the Group’s call-option program.

A Compensation Committee headed by the Board Chairman decides on matt-
ers relating to the salary and terms of employment of the President and reports
such matter to the Board. The Committee also prepares guidelines for executives
who report directly to the President.

Wages, salaries, other remuneration and payroll overheads

2002 2001
Salaries and Salaries and

SEK M other compensation other compensation

Sweden 578 585
France 741 766
Italy 230 224
Spain 271 239
UK 432 510
Germany 345 355
Other EU countries 294 312

Total EU countries 2,891 2,991

Other European countries 88 97
USA 807 897
Brazil 43 52
Other North and South American countries 81 96
China 22 21
Sri Lanka 15 13
Other regions 66 54

Total 4,013 4,221

Of which
   to Board and President(s), including variable salary 99 75
   to other senior members of executive management 20 14

                        2002                      2001              
Payroll Of which Payroll Of which

overheads pension overheads pension
costs costs

Group total 1,127 149 1,064 142

A complete list is appended to the Annual report filed with the Swedish Patent and
Registration Office (PRV)

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

Note 3
Auditors’ fees and reimbursements

SEK M 2002 2001

KPMG
Audit assignments 16 14
Other assignments 4 4

Other auditors
Audit assignments 1 1
Other assignments 1 1

Note 4
Non-comparable items

SEK M 2002 2001

Alecta refund – 20
Capital gain on sale of roll-covering operations – 40

Total, non-comparable revenues 0 60

Provision for restructuring within the Group
   Restructuring of Wheel System operations – –200
   Restructuring of laminate operations in Mexico – –40
Divestment of operations in Metech –30 –
Divestment of White Goods –13 –
Restructuring in Trenor Group –23 –
Costs related to Boliden –9 –
Other non-comparable items – –28

Total non-comparable expense –75 –268

Total –75 –208

Note 5
Other operating revenue and expense

SEK M 2002 2001

Rental revenue 30 16
Exchange-rate gains 29 8
Sale of tools, etc 75 286
Sale of services 40 35
Insurance compensation 40 0
Other 98 201

Total, other operating revenue 312 546

Royalty payments –9 –10
Operating costs for rental operations –36 –29
Exchange-rate losses –39 –1
Cost of selling tools, etc –2 –161
Other –68 –82

Total, other operating expense –154 –283

Total 158 263

Note 6
Results from participations in associated companies

Earnings after financial items Non-comparable items Net earnings Dividend received
SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trenor Holding AB 106 121 –23 – 65 75 – –
Other associated companies 34 18 – – 20 11 – 0

Total 140 139 –23 0 85 86 – 0

Receivables from Liabilities to Sales to associated Operating revenue from
associated companies associated companies companies associated companies

SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trenor Holding AB – – – 18 – – – –
Other associated companies 19 20 0 13 119 152 40 35

Total 19 20 0 31 119 152 40 35
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

Note 7
Depreciation according to plan of
intangible and tangible assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Capitalized expenditures for Research and
   Development and similar work 0 0
Concessions, patent licenses, brand names and similar rights –5 –6
Rental rights and similar rights 0 0
Goodwill –168 –167
Real estate –82 –86
Machinery and other technical plant –493 –538
Equipment, tools, installations –106 –107

Total –854 –904

Total depreciation distributed per function

SEK M 2002 2001

Cost of goods sold –675 –651
Selling costs –61 –97
Administration costs –64 –88
Research and development costs –27 –34
Other operating costs –27 –34

Total –854 –904

Goodwill amortization distributed by function

SEK M 2002 2001

Cost of goods sold –130 –129
Selling costs –32 –32
Administration costs –2 –2
Other operating costs –4 –4

Total –168 –167

Note 8
Financial income and expense

SEK M 2002 2001

Income from miscellaneous securities and receivables
   that are classified as fixed assets
Interest income 7 10
Exchange-rate differences –4 25
Dividend and other financial income 0 1

Total 3 36

Other interest income and similar income items
Interest income 61 73
Exchange-rate differences –84 203
Dividend and other financial income 0 0
Gain/loss on sale of current financial assets 0 0

Total –23 276

Interest expense and similar income items
Interest expense –188 –247
Exchange-rate differences 89 –223
Other 0 0

Total –99 –470

Total financial income and expense –119 –158

Financial income and expense includes administration
   costs for finance operations.

Non-comparable items
Result of shares held in Boliden –150 –41

Note 9
Tax on profit for the year

SEK M 2002 2001

Current tax expense
Tax expense for the period –76 –47
Adjustment of tax attributable to earlier years –5 9

Total –81 –38

Deferred tax expense
Deferred tax expense on non-comparable items 13 44
Change in loss carry-forwards 42 53
Deferred tax expense/revenue from changes
   in temporary differences –129 –183

Total –74 –86

Other taxes –43 –18
Taxes on participations in results of associated companies –55 –58

Total reported tax expense in Group –253 –200

Tax items reported directly against shareholders’ equity
Deferred tax on hedging instruments –39 46

Reconciliation of effective tax, %
Swedish income tax 28% 28%
Effect of other tax rates for foreign subsidiaries 2% 6%
Amortization of Group goodwill 5% 6%
Other non-deductible expense/non-taxable revenue 4% 1%
Revaluation of loss carry-forwards –11% –7%
Revaluation of temporary differences –1% –10%
Tax attributable to earlier years 1% –1%
Effect of changed tax rates and tax regulations 1% 0%

Tax rate 29% 23%

Participation in results of associated companies 2% 3%
Other taxes 6% 2%

Reported effective tax in Group 37% 28%

At year-end 2002, the Group had loss carry-forwards of approximately SEK 4,600 M

(3,300), After adjustment of the valuation reserve, SEK 1,700 M (1,800) was taken
into account when calculating deferred tax.
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2002 Capitalized Concessions, Rental rights   Goodwill Advances related Total
expenditures patents and and similar to intangible intangible fixed

SEK M for R&D work licenses rights  fixed assets assets

Accumulated acquisition values 0 68 0 3,047 1 3,116
Accumulated depreciation according to plan 0 -43 0 -445 -488
Accumulated write-ups -1 -1
Accumulated write-downs 0

Planned residual value 0 25 0 2,602 0 2,627

January 1 1 27 5 2,924 1 2,958
Acquisitions 83 83
Investments 4 4
Divestment and scrappings -1 -4 -1 -6
Depreciation according to plan for the year 0 -5 0 -168 -173
Translation differences for the year -1 -1 -237 -239

Planned residual value 0 25 0 2,602 0 2,627

Distribution of depreciation for the year and planned residual value in regard to goodwill

          Depreciation      Planned residual value
SEK M 2002 2001 2002

Trelleborg Automotive -114 -117 1 768
Trelleborg Wheel Systems -19 -17 243
Trelleborg Enginereed Systems -18 -16 331
Trelleborg Building Systems -17 -17 260

Total -168 -167 2,602

Of Trelleborg Automotive’s planned residual value in regard to goodwill, SEK 1,454 M related to the goodwill pertaining to the BTR-AVS and LACD acquisitions. The remaining
amortization time is 17.5 years.

Note 11
Intangible fixed assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Capitalized expenditures for research and development
   and similar work 0 1
Concessions, patents, licenses, brand names
   and similar rights 25 27
Rental rights and similar rights 0 5
Goodwill 2,602 2,924
Advances related to intangible fixed assets 0 1

Total 2,627 2,958

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

Note 10
Minority interest in equity and results of subsidiaries

Minority share Minority
in result for the year interest

SEK M 2002 2001 2002 2001

Trelleborg Automotive Wuxi
   Vibration Insulators Co Ltd –13 –14 117 127
Other associated companies –1 2 8 12

Total –14 –12 125 139
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2002 Real estate Machinery and Equipment, New construction Total
technical plant tools and in progress and tangible

installations advances related assets
SEK M to tangible assets

Accumulated acquisition value 3,003 6,128 1,032 269 10,432
Accumulated depreciation according to plan –643 –3,627 –727 –4,997
Accumulated write-ups 29 11 1 0 41
Accumulated write-downs –328 –129 –12 0 –469

Planned residual value 2,061 2,383 294 269 5,007

January 1 2,092 2,729 295 177 5,293
Reclassification 48 134 –4 2 180
Acquisitions 15 1 16
investments 127 311 88 209 735
Divestment of operations –12 –37 –2 –3 –54
Divestments and scrappings –27 –55 –2 –4 –88
Depreciation according to plan for year –82 –493 –106 –681
Internal transfers 55 6 39 –100 0
Translation difference for year –140 –227 –15 –12 –394

Planned residual value 2,061 2,383 294 269 5,007

The total tax assessment value for the Group’s Swedish real estate amounts to SEK 451 M (425), including SEK 368 M (356) for buildings.

Note 12
Tangible fixed assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Real estate 2,061 2,092
Machinery and other technical plant 2,383 2,729
Equipment, tools and installations 294 295
New construction in progress and advances
   related to tangible fixed assets 269 177

Total 5,007 5,293

Note 13
Financial fixed assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Participations in associated companies 380 327
Other shares 8 8
Other long-term holdings of securities 160 197
Other long-term receivables 16 4
Deferred tax receivables 544 646

Total 1,108 1,182

Long-term investments totaling SEK 156 M (183) consist of guarantees for the
fulfillment of leasing commitments in connection with sale/leaseback transactions
related to fixed assets in wholly owned and associated companies.

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

The Group has entered into financial and operational leasing contracts. In regard
to financial leasing contracts, the leased fixed assets are reported as tangible
fixed assets and the future payment commitments as financial liabilities. Leasing
costs for assets held via financial leasing contracts amounted to SEK 4 M. Future
payment commitments for financial leasing contracts are distributed as follows:

SEK M

Year 1 4
Years 2-5 8
Later than 5 years 5

Leasing costs for assets held via operational leasing contracts are reported among
operating expenses and amounted to SEK 68 M. Future payment commitments for
non-cancelable financial leasing contracts amounted to SEK 514 M and become due
as follows:

SEK M

Year 1 60
Years 2-5 149
Later than 5 years 305
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Note 14
Group holdings of shares and participations in Group companies*

Company Corporate ID Domicile Number Holding Book value, SEK M

Chemtrading Alpha Holding AG Switzerland 100 100 3
AB Tegea 556030-7398 Trelleborg 200,000 100 23
Tenabben AB 556118-4986 Trelleborg 250 100 0
Trelleborg Canada BV Netherlands 41 100 709

Trelleborg Wheel Systems Belgium NV Belgium 2,726,426 100
Trelleborg GmbH Germany 150,000 100
Trelleborg Automotive Germany GmbH Germany 40,000 100
Trelleborg ETM GmbH Germany 2 100
Trelleborg Wheel Systems Spa Italy 200,000 100

Trelleborg Corporation USA 2,592 100 318
Mapleville Main, Inc USA 1,000 100
Goodall Rubber Company USA 718,935 100
Goodall Rubber Co of Canada Inc Canada 1 100
Trelleborg Wheel Systems Americas, Inc USA 1,000 100
Trelleborg YSH, Inc USA 100,000 100

Trelleborg Engineered Systems Group AB 556055-7711 Trelleborg 1,250 100 3
Trelleborg Fabrieken BV Netherlands 80,000 100 0
Trelleborg Holding AB 556212-8255 Trelleborg 1,000 100 740

Trelleborg Industrial AVS AB 556020-5862 Södertälje 500 100
Trelleborg Building Systems AB 556026-2148 Trelleborg 12,000 100
Trelleborg Horda AB 556053-5832 Värnamo 10,000 100
Trelleborg Inepsa SA Spain 324,000 100
Trelleborg Automotive Spain SA Spain 600,000 100

Trelleborg Holding Danmark A/S Denmark 10,000 100 44
Trelleborg Phoenix A/S Denmark 80,000 100

Trelleborg Holding France SA France 153,445 100 119
Trelleborg Vickers SAS France 203,400 100
Trelleborg Modyn SAS France 720,000 100
Trelleborg Soratech SAS France 720,000 100
Trelleborg Industrie SA France 1,265,773 100

Trelleborg Holding Italia S.p.A. Italy 200,000 100 1
Trelleborg Holding Norge AS Norway 10,000 100 0
Trelleborg Holdings (UK) Ltd Great Britain 20,000,000 100 560

Trelleborg Automotive (UK) Ltd Great Britain 100 100
Trelleborg Stanton Ltd Great Britain 3,750,000 100

Trelleborg Industri AB 556129-7267 Trelleborg 725,000 100 197
Trelleborg Industrie S.p.A. Italy 200,000 100 3
Trelleborg Insurance Ltd Bermuda 50,000 100 118
Trelleborg Kort AB 556119-8820 Trelleborg 25,000 100 6
Trelleborg Protective Products AB 556010-7145 Trelleborg 100,000 100 15
Trelleborg Wheel Systems Group AB 556041-6975 Trelleborg 20,000 100 5
Trellswitch Intressenter AB 556052-1485 Trelleborg 4,500,000 100 19
Trelltech AB 556054-9759 Trelleborg 28,000 100 375

Trelleborg Rubore AB 556325-7442 Kalmar 60,000 100

Total, Parent Company 3,258

*The table shows directly owned subsidiaries and indirectly owned companies whose sales exceed SEK 250 M.
A complete list of companies is appended to the Annual Report filed with the Swedish Patent and Registration Office (PRV).

Note 15
Shares and participations in associated companies

SEK M 2002 2001

Acquisition value, January 1 327 213
Investments 0 0
Sales –2 –
Participation in earnings of
   associated companies 85 99
Translation differences –30 15

Book value, December 31 380 327

company Corporate ID Domicile Holding, % Voting  No. of Book
rights, % shares, value,

participations SEK M

Indirectly owned:
Trenor Holding AB 556578-4740 Stockholm 49 49 490,000 240
Dawson Manufacturing Co. USA 45 189,090 131
Other 9

Total 380

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
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Note 16
Other shares

SEK M 2002 2001

Acquisition value, January 1 8 7
Acquisitions – 1
Purchases – 0
Sales 0 0
Translation differences for year 0 0

Accumulated acquisition values, December 31 8 8

Sales 0 –

Accumulated write-down, December 31 0 0

Book value, December 31 8 8

Of which, Swedish shares 1 1
Foreign shares 7 7

Note 17
Deferred tax receivables/tax liabilities

SEK M  2002      2001
Deferred tax Deferred tax Net Deferred tax Deferred tax Net
receivables liabilities receivables liabilities

Intangible assets 11 31 –20 10 –10
Land and buildings 92 111 –19  74 59 15
Machinery and equipment 80 166 –86  80 173 –93
Financial fixed assets 71 –71 160 –160
Inventories 15 0 15 29 29
Current receivables 4 4 6 6
Pension provisions 20 20 23 23
Other provisions 122 122  173 173
Long-term liabilities 67 –67 16 16
Current liabilities 52 52 67 67
Other 0 0
Loss carry-forwards 548 548 516 516

Total 944 446 498 984 402 582

Offsetting of receivables/liabilities –400 –400 –338 –338

Total 544 46 646 64

Change in deferred tax in temporary differences and loss carry-forwards

Amount on Reported via Reported directly against Acquired tax Translation Amount on
SEK M Jan 1 Income Statement shareholders’ equity receivables/liabilities differences Dec 31

Intangible assets -10 -12 2 -20
Land and buildings 15 -35 1 -19
Machinery and equipment -93 -14 21 -86
Financial fixed assets -160 11 70 8 -71
Inventories 29 -13 -1 15
Current receivables 6 7 -5 -4 4
Pension provisions 23 -3 20
Other provisions 173 -76 43 -18 122
Long-term liabilities 16 15 -94 1 -5 -67
Current liabilities 67 1 -10 -6 52
Loss carry-forwards 516 42 -10 548

Total 582 -74 -39 44 -15 498

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
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Note 18
Inventories

SEK M 2002 2001

Raw materials and supplies 667 690
Work in progress 238 477
Finished products and goods for resale 1,175 1,257
Construction work in progress 0 1
Advances to suppliers 2 3

Total 2,082 2,428

Note 19
Current receivables

SEK M 2002 2001

Accounts receivable 3,238 3,596
Bills receivable 14 13
Operating receivables, associated companies 4 5
Financial receivables, associated companies 15 15
Prepaid tax 172 212
Other current receivables 334 383
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 314 519

Total 4,091 4,743

Note 20
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

SEK M 2002 2001

Interest 79 273
Other 235 246

Total 314 519

Note 21
Short-term investments

SEK M 2002 2001

Shares in Boliden Ltd 76 314
Other short-term investments 0 40

Total 76 354

Note 22
Shareholders’ equity

Restricted Unrestricted Total
SEK M shareholders’ shareholders’

equity equity

Balance, January 1, 2002 4,341 3,349 7,690
Changes during year

Transfers between restricted and
   unrestricted shareholders’ equity 73 –73 0
Dividend –347 –347
Repurchase of own shares –218 –218
Profit for year 410 410
Translation difference for year –606 –606
Exchange-rate differences, hedging
   instruments, after tax 355 355

Balance, December 31 4,163 3,121 7,284

Accumulated translation differences are reported
as of 1998. The following amounts pertaining to
translation differences are included in restricted
and unrestricted shareholders’ equity, respectively:

Translation differences, January 1 –101 –52 –153
Change during year from translation
   of subsidiaries’ accounts –606 –606
Exchange-rate differences, hedging
   instruments, after tax 355 355

Translation differences, December 31 –352 –52 –404

As at December 31, 2002, the share capital of Trelleborg AB amounted to SEK

2,265,184,300, represented by 90,607,372 shares, par value SEK 25 each.
Class No. of shares % of total No. of votes % of total
Series A 9,500,000 10.48 95,000,000 53.94
Series B 81,107,372 89.52 81,107,372 46.06

Total 90,607,372 100.00 176,107,372 100.00

Note 23
Other provisions

Restructuring programs Other Total
SEK M in acquired units

Balance, Jan 1 424 485 909
Reclassification from fixed assets/
   pension liabilities 180 63 243
Provisions for the year 0 76 76
Utilized during the year –207 –219 –426
Translation differences –15 –36 –51

Balance, Dec 31 382 369 751

In conjunction with the acquisition of the BTR-AVS and LACD units, provisions were
made for the restructuring and integration of these operations within the Group.
During the year, a total of SEK 207 M was utilized and it is estimated that the
remainder of the provision, SEK 382 M, will largely be utilized within two years.
During 2001, SEK 131 M was reserved for the restructuring of the operations in
Trelleborg Wheel Systems. During the year, SEK 96 M was utilized and the remaining
SEK 36 M will be utilized during 2003.

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts



73

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l r e
p

o
r t in

g

Note 24
Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Liabilities to credit institutions 2,921 3,916
Bank overdraft facilities 159 8
Convertible debenture loan 257 254
Other interest-bearing liabilities 32 42

Total 3,369 4,220

Interest-bearing current liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Liabilities to credit institutions 13 31
Other interest-bearing liabilities 2 10

Total 15 41

Total interest-bearing liabilities 3,384 4,261

Bank overdraft facilities
Granted credit limit 1,000 459
Unutilized portion -842 -451
Utilized portion 158 8

Distribution of interest-bearing liabilities by currency and fixed interest

Volume Fixed interest
SEK M adjusted for possible

derivative instruments.
Number of months

SEK –3,606 7.5
USD 2,080 4.5
EUR 3,673 7.0
GBP 937 2.0
Other 300 3.5

total 3,384 3.0

Group credit facilities

Volume, SEK M Maturity year

Bank overdrafts 1,000 2003
Syndicated loan, USD 400 M 3,530 2003
Convertible debenture loan 261 2004
Other long-term loans 141 2006
Syndicated loan, USD 600 M 5,295 2007

The Group’s short-term, non-contracted loan commitments totaled approximately
SEK 3,000 M at year-end 2002.

Note 25
Convertible debenture loan

During 1998, the Parent Company issued a convertible debenture loan. The issued
amount was SEK 261 M. Interest on the loan is established in February each year
as 1 year STIBOR minus 0.6%. The interest for the period January 1-February 20
was 3.67%. The interest for the period February 21-December 31 was 3.81%. The
loan falls due on May 15, 2004 and conversion may take place during the period
February 21, 2003 to April 15, 2004. If the entire loan is converted into shares at
a price of SEK 66.90, the number of shares will be increased by 3,902,742.

Note 26
Noninterest-bearing liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Other noninterest-bearing liabilities 64 96

Total 64 96

Other current liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Advances from customers 15 9
Accounts payable 1,923 2,223
Bills payable 22 75
Liability to associated companies 0 31
Tax liability 158 88
Other non-interest-bearing liabilities 524 622
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 866 1 179

Total 3,508 4,227

Total noninterest-bearing liabilities 3,572 4,323

Note 27
Accrued expenses and prepaid income

SEK M 2002 2001

Interest 130 288
Wages and salaries 266 248
Payroll overheads 132 112
Other 338 531

Total 866 1,179

Note 28
Continent liabilities and pledged assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Contingent liabilities
Pension commitments 3 0
Guarantees and other contingent liabilities 411 425

Total 414 425

           2002              2001
Liabilities to Other interest- Total

credit  institutions bearing
SEK M liabilities

Guarantees
Chattel mortgages – – – 230
Long-term investments – 156 156 183

Total – 156 156 413

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
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Note 29
Employees and costs

Average no. of employees

 2002 2001
No. of No. of
Women Men Total Women Men Total

Sweden 29 35 64 29 32 61

Wages, salaries, bonus, other remuneration and payroll overheads

2002 2001
Board and Other Other Total Payroll Of which, Board and Other Other Total Payroll Of which,
President senior employees wages and overheads pension President senior employees wages and overheads pension

SEK M executives salaries costs executives salaries costs

Sweden 8 12 27 47 33 8 7 14 20 41 27 4

Note 30
Auditors’ fees and reimbursements

SEK M 2002 2001

KPMG
Audit assignments 2 1
Other assignments 0 0
Other auditors
 Audit assignments 0 –

Total 2 1

Note 31
Non-comparable items

SEK M 2002 2001

Sale of assets – –2
Repayment, redemption of shares – 10
SPP – 20
Class Action, Boliden –11 –

Total –11 28

Note 33
Depreciation according to plan of tangible assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Real estate –1 –1
Equipment, tools and installations –2 –3

Total –3 –4

Note 32
Other operating revenues and expense

SEK M 2002 2001

Sale of services 125 96
Other 24 6

Total, other operating revenue 149 102

Other –29 –6

Total, other operating expense –29 –6

Total 120 96

Note 34
Financial income and expense

SEK M 2002 2001

Result from participations in Group companies
Dividend 13 0
Write-down of shares in subsidiaries –173 –125

Total –160 –125

Result from participations in Group companies
Adjusted purchase sum –18 0

Total –18 0

Result from other securities and receivables that are fixed assets
Interest income, Group companies 210 207
Interest income, others 8 7
Exchange-rate differences –4 26
Dividend and other financial income 0 1

Total 214 241

Other interest income and similar income items
Interest income, Group companies 267 431
Interest income, others 50 42
Exchange-rate differences 30 –127
Result from sale 23 –4
Dividend and other financial income – 0

Total 370 342

Other interest expense and similar items
Interest expense, Group companies –129 –147
Interest expense, others –131 –179
Exchange-rate differences 90 –218

Total –170 –544

Total financial income and expense 236 –86

Notes to the Parent Company’s Accounts
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Note 35
Tax on profit for the year

SEK M 2002 2001

Current tax expense
Tax expense for year 0 0
Adjustment of tax attributable to earlier years –1 –2

–1 –2

Deferred tax expense (-) tax income (+)
Utilization of loss carry-forwards –88 9
Revaluation of loss carry-forwards 86

–2 9

Total reported tax expense –3 7

Reconciliation of effective tax
Profit/loss before tax 141 –158
Non-deductible expense and nontaxable income 176 125
Utilization of loss carry-forwards 88 0
Revaluation of loss carry-forwards –86 2

Reported effective tax 28 % 28 %

Tax items reported directly against shareholders’ equity
Current tax on Group contributions received/paid – –5

Note 36
Tangible fixed assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Real estate 19 25
Equipment, tools and installations 7 9

Total 26 34

2002 Real estate Equipment, Total
tools and tangible

SEK M installations assets

Accumulated acquisition values
January 1 36 27 63
Investments – 0 0
Divestments and scrappings –5 0 –5

Accumulated acquisition values,
   December 31 31 27 58

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
January 1 –11 –18 –29
Divestments and scrappings 0 0 0
Depreciation according to plan
   for the year –1 –2 –3

Accumulated depreciation, December 31 –12 –20 –32

Planned residual value, December 31 19 7 26

Tax assessment values, buildings 9
Tax assessment values, land 1

Trelleborg AB has entered into operational leasing contracts. Leasing costs for
assets held via operational leasing contracts amounted to SEK 2 M and are
reported among operating expenses. Future payments for non-cancelled leasing
contracts amount to SEK 5 M and fall due as follows:
Year 1 2
Years 2-5 3

Note 37
Financial fixed assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Participations in Group companies (Notes 14 and 38) 3,258 3,432
Receivables from Group companies 7,207 6,945
Participations in other companies 1 1
Other long-term holdings of securities 156 183
Deferred tax receivables (Note 39) 224 226

Total 10,846 10,787

Other long-term holdings of securities consist of interest-bearing securities and
receivables intended as long-term holdings. These constitute security for
fulfillment of leasing agreements in connection with sale/leaseback transactions
related to assets in wholly owned subsidiaries and associated companies.

Note 38
Participations in Group companies

SEK M 2002 2001

Balance, January 1 3,432 3,199
Add:
Increase in share capital – 358
Deduct:
Sale –1 –
Write-down –173 –125

Balance, December 31, 2002 3,258 3,432

See also Note 14.

Note 39
Deferred tax receivables

SEK M                                                2002

Deferred Deferred Net
tax receivables tax liabilities

Loss carry-forward 224 224

224 0 224

The change between the years has been reported as deferred tax expense/
income. See Note 35.

Note 40
Inventories

SEK M 2002 2001

Finished products and goods for resale 4 6

Notes to the Parent Company’s Accounts
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Note 41
Current receivables

SEK M 2002 2001

Non-financial receivables
Operating receivables, Group companies 7 19
Operating receivables, associated companies 1 0
Prepaid tax 1 1
Other current receivables 3 35
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 88 250

Total 100 305

Financial receivables
Financial receivables,  Group companies 1,980 2,813
Financial receivables, associated companies 15 15

Total 1,995 2,828

Total current receivables 2,095 3,133

Note 42
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

SEK M 2002 2001

Interest and other financial items 78 242
Other 10 8

Total 88 250

Note 43
Short-term investments

SEK M 2002 2001

Listed shares – 58
Other short-term investments – 30

Total – 88

Note 44
Shareholders’ equity

Restricted Unrestricted Total
SEK M equity equity

Balance, January 1, 2002 3,184 1,965 5,149
Purchase of Company shares during 2002 –218 –218
Dividend –347 –347
Profit for year 138 138

Balance, December 31, 2002 3,184 1,538 4,722

On December 31, 2002, the share capital of Trelleborg AB amounted to SEK

2,265,184,3000 represented by 90,607,372 shares, with a par value of SEK 25
each. On the same date, Trelleborg’s holding of its own shares was 6,929,600,
reflecting an increase of 2,959,800 shares during 2002.
The total number of shares outstanding on December 31, 2002 was: 83,686,772.

Class No. of shares % of total No. of votes % of total

Series A 9,500,000 10.48 95,000,000 53.94
Series B 81,107,372 89.52 81,107,372 46.06

Total 90,607,372 100.00 176,107,372 100.00

Note 46
Interest-bearing liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Liabilities to credit institutions 3,058 3,679
Bank overdraft facilities 141 0
Convertible debenture loan 257 254
Other interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies 4,241 4,187

Total, long-term interest-bearing liabilities 7,697 8,120

Interest-bearing current liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Other interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies 436 618

Total interest-bearing current liabilities 436 618

Total interest-bearing liabilities 8,133 8,738

Liabilities to credit institutions

SEK M 2002 2001

Due dates 1 to 5 years from December 31 3,058 3,679
Due dates later than 5 years from December 31 – –

Bank overdraft facilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Granted credit limit 932 278
Unutilized portion –791 –278

Amount utilized 141 0

Convertible debenture loan
See Note 25.

Notes to the Parent Company’s Accounts

Note 45
Other provisions

SEK M 2002 2001

Provisions for environmental commitments 5 5

Total 5 5
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Note 47
Noninterest-bearing liabilities

Other  long-term liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Other noninterest-bearing long-term liabilities 8 8

Total noninterest-bearing long-term liabilities 8 8

Other current liabilities

SEK M 2002 2001

Accounts payable 15 28
Operating liabilities, Group companies 2 0
Tax liabilities 2 1
Other noninterest-bearing liabilities 9 3
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 124 266

Total noninterest-bearing current liabilities 152 298

Total noninterest-bearing liabilities 160 306

Note 48
Accrued expenses and prepaid income

SEK M 2002 2001

Interest and other financial items 103 245
Wages and salaries 12 11
Payroll overheads 5 4
Severance payments – 1
Other 4 5

Total 124 266

Note 49
Contingent liabilities and pledged assets

SEK M 2002 2001

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees and other contingent liabilities 616 700

Total 616 700

Of which, on behalf of subsidiaries 214 284
Pledged assets
Chattel mortgages, liabilities to credit institutions 0 230
Long-term investments, other interest-bearing liabilities 156 183

Total 156 413

Notes to the Parent Company’s Accounts
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Trelleborg, February 5, 2003

Anders Narvinger Didrik Normark Rolf Larsson
Chairman

Berthold Lindqvist Rolf Kjellman Ann-Christine Albertsson

Staffan Bohman Kim Davidsson Alf Fredlund

Karin Linsjö Fredrik Arp
President

Proposed disposition of unappropriated earnings
The Group’s unappropriated earnings, including profits from 2002, total SEK 3,121 M.
No appropriation to restricted reserves is required.
Amounts at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with the balance
sheet of Trelleborg AB:

Retained profit from preceding year, SEK K 1,399,827
Profit for the year, SEK K    137,965

Total, SEK K 1,537,792

The Board of Directors and the President propose
   that the above profit be distributed in the following manner:

A dividend of SEK 4:25 per share be paid to the shareholders, SEK K 355,452*
Balance to be carried forward, SEK K 1,182,340

Total, SEK K 1,537,792

*The total dividend amount could change in the period up to the record
   date, due to the repurchase of shares.
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Audit repor t for
Corporate identity number 556006-3421

Trel leborg AB

To the Annual General
Meeting of the shareholders
in Trelleborg AB:
I have audited the annual accounts, the
consolidated financial statements, account-
ing records and the administration of the
Board of Directors and the President of
Trelleborg AB for the 2002 financial year.
These accounts and the administration of
the Company are the responsibility of the
Board of Directors and the President. My
responsibility is to express an opinion on
the annual accounts, consolidated financial
statements and the administration based
on my audit.

The audit has been conducted in ac-
cordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in Sweden. Those standards
require that I plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance that the
annual accounts and the consolidated

financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examin-
ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the accounts.

An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and their ap-
plication by the Board of Directors and
the President, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of information in the
annual accounts and consolidated finan-
cial statements. To support my opinion
in regard to freedom from liability, I have
examined significant decisions, actions
taken and circumstances of the Company
in order to determine the liability, if any,
to the Company of any Board member,
or the President. I have also conducted
examinations to establish whether any
Board member or the President has in
any other way acted in contravention of
the Swedish Companies Act, the Annual

Accounts Act, or the Company’s Articles
of Association. I believe that my audit
provides a reasonable basis for the opin-
ion set out below.

The annual accounts and consolidated
financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Annual Accounts
Act and thus provide a true and fair picture
of both the Company’s and the Group’s
earnings and position in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards in
Sweden.

I recommend that the Annual General
Meeting adopt the Income Statements
and Balance Sheets of the Parent Company
and the Group, that the profit in the Parent
Company be dealt with in accordance with
the proposal in the Board of Directors’
Report, and that the members of the
Board and the President be discharged
from liability for the financial year.

Trelleborg, February 12, 2003

Stefan Holmström
Authorized Public Accountant

KPMG Bohlins AB
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F ive-year

Trelleborg Group (SEK M unless otherwise stated) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Revenues and earnings:

Net sales 17,630 18,760 13,654 23,345 25,041

Operating profit before non-comparable items 1,021 1,134 992 975 719

Profit after net financial items, excluding non-comparable items 902 976 981 974 599

Non-comparable items before tax -225 -249 160 576 17

Profit for year 410 515 802 1,006 492

Capital structure:

Fixed assets 8,742 9,433 8,883 5,639 11,368

Current assets 6,658 8,289 8,249 8,254 9,130

Total assets 15,400 17,722 17,132 13,893 20,498

Shareholders’ equity 7,284 7,690 8,552 9,213 10,975

Minority interests 125 139 160 12 156

Provisions 1,035 1,309 1,346 860 1,050

Long-term liabilities 3,433 4,316 2,700 1,535 3,758

Current liabilities 3 523 4,268 4,374 2,273 4,559

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 15,400 17,722 17,132 13,893 20,498

Capital employed 9,886 10,451 9,675 5,265 13,600

Financial net assets/liabilities –2,962 -3,267 -1,720 3,499 -3,287

Key data:

Equity/assets ratio, % 48.1 44.2 50.9 66.4 54.3

Debt/equity ratio, % 40.0 41.7 19.7 — 29.5

Capital turnover rate, multiple 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.3 2.0

Operating margin (ROS), % 5.0 5.3 5.7 3.9 3.6

Return on capital employed (ROA), % 10.0 10.6 13.5 9.5 5.7

Return on capital employed, excluding goodwill amortization (ROA), % 11.7 12.2 14.9 10.6 6.6

Cash flow from operations 1,036 1,395 763 1,077 292

Investments in plants (excluding existing plants in
   acquired companies) 739 642 543 811 806

Depreciation 854 903 659 637 621

Profit margin, % 5.1 5.2 7.2 4.2 2.4

Return on shareholders’ equity, % 5.5 6.3 9.0 10.0 4.5

Return on shareholders’ equity, excluding non-comparable items, % 8.3 8.9 8.1 7.4 4.3

Return on shareholders’ equity, excluding non-comparable items
   and goodwill amortization, % 10.3 10.7 9.1 8.5 5.2

Earnings per share, SEK 4.75 5.35 7.30 8.60 4.20

Earnings per share, excluding non-comparable items, SEK 7.25 7.45 6.50 6.35 4.05

Earnings per share, excluding non-comparable items and
   goodwill amortization, SEK 8.95 9.00 7.35 7.25 4.90

Earnings per share after full conversion, SEK 4.65 5.20 7.05 8.30 4.20

Shareholders’ equity per share, SEK 87.05 88.70 84.60 78.50 93.55

Other information:

Average number of employees 14,885 16,179 12,397 12,655 13,895

   –of which, outside Sweden 12,919 14,125 10,147 8,221 8,795

review
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F inancial

Operating margin (ROS): Operating
profit/loss excluding non-comparable
items and participations in the results of
associated companies, in relation to net
sales.

Capital employed: Total assets minus
interest-bearing investments and non-
interest-bearing operating liabilities, exclud-
ing tax receivables and tax liabilities.

Return on capital employed (ROA):
Operating profit/loss excluding non-
comparable items in relation to average
capital employed.

Return on capital employed, excluding
goodwill amortization (ROA-ex):
Operating profit/loss, excluding goodwill
amortization and non-comparable items,
in relation to average capital employed.

Cash flow from operations: The sum of
operating profit/loss, excluding non-
comparable items and participations in
the results of associated companies, net
investments for the year and changes in
working capital.

Financial net assets/liabilities: Financial
receivables, investments and liquid funds,
with deductions for interest-bearing pro-
visions and liabilities

Capital turnover rate: Net sales in rela-
tion to average capital employed.

Debt/equity ratio: Net financial assets/
liabilities in relation to the sum of share-
holders’ equity and minority interests.

Profit margin: Profit/loss after net financial
income and expense, excluding non-com-
parable items, in relation to net sales.

Equity/assets ratio: Shareholders’ equity
plus minority interests in relation to total
assets.

Return on shareholders’ equity: Net profit/
loss in relation to average shareholders’
equity.

Return on shareholders’ equity,
excluding non-comparable items:
Net profit/loss, excluding non-comparable
items after tax, in relation to average
shareholders’ equity.

Return on shareholders’ equity, excluding
non-comparable items and goodwill
amortization: Net profit/loss, excluding
non-comparable items after tax and good-
will amortization, in relation to average
shareholders’ equity.

Earnings per share: Net profit/loss in
relation to the average number of shares
outstanding.

Earnings per share, excluding non-com-
parable items: Net profit/loss, excluding
non-comparable items after tax, in rela-

definit ions
tion to the average number of shares out-
standing.

Earnings per share, excluding non-com-
parable items: and goodwill amortization:
Net profit/loss, excluding non-comparable
items after tax and goodwill amortization
after tax, in relation to the average number
of shares outstanding.

Earnings per share, after dilution: Net
profit/loss in relation to the average number
of shares outstanding plus the average
number of shares added through the
conversion of outstanding number of
convertibles and options (warrants).

Average number of employees per busi-
ness area: Includes employees hired on a
temporary or project basis.
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B o a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s
Members elected by Annual General Meeting

All holdings valid as at January 1, 2003.

1) Exercise period: October 1, 2002 to March 31, 2003. Exercise price:
SEK 78, and October 1, 2003 to March 31, 2004. Exercise price: SEK 86.

BERTHOLD LINDQVIST
Board member.

Chairman of AB Munters.

Board member, Pharmacia Corp
Inc., Securitas AB, JM AB, Cardo
AB, Novotek AB, Probi AB and
other companies.

Holding: 2,000 shares.

Born: 1938. Elected to Board,
1996.

DIDRIK NORMARK
Board member.

Chairman of Henry and Gerda
Dunker’s Foundation and Donation
Fund No. 2 and Henry Dunkers
Förvaltnings AB, Dahréntråd.

Board member of AB
Elektrokoppar and Öresundskraft
Produktion AB

Holding: 8,300 shares (own and
family members).

Born 1936: Elected to Board,
1994.

ANN-CHRISTINE
ALBERTSSON
Board member.

Professor of Polymer Technology at
the Royal Institute of Technology
(KTH).

Member, Royal Swedish Academy
of Engineering Sciences.

Holding: 1,450 shares.

Born: 1945. Elected to Board,
1999.

STAFFAN BOHMAN
Board member.

President and CEO, SAPA AB.

Chairman of German-Swedish
Chamber of Commerce.

Holding: 3,000 shares.

Born: 1949. Elected to Board,
2000.

FREDRIK ARP
Board member.

President and CEO of the Trelleborg
Group.

Board member, Sydsvenska Kemi
AB and Getinge Industrier.

Holdings: 51,549 shares and
120,000 call options1) .

Born: 1953. Elected to Board,
1999.

ROLF KJELLMAN
Board member.

President of Henry Dunkers
Förvaltnings AB.

Executive Member of Henry and
Gerda Dunker’s Foundation and
Donation Fund No. 2.

Holding: 1,500 shares.

Born: 1939. Elected to Board,
1997.

ANDERS NARVINGER
Chairman of the Board

President, Association of Swedish
Engineering Industries, VI,
Chairman of Swedish Trade
Council, Lund Technical Institute,
Plastal AB

Board member, Volvo Car
Corporation.

Holding: 4,000 shares.

Board: 1948. Elected to Board,
1999.
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STEFAN HOLMSTRÖM
Authorized Public Accountant

KPMG Bohlins AB

Auditor since 2000

Born: 1949.

KIM DAVIDSSON
Employee representative.

Elected by the Unions of the
Trelleborg Group (LO).

Holdings: 122 shares and 1,500
convertible debentures1).

Born: 1947. Appointed to Board,
1994.

ALF FREDLUND
Employee representative.

Elected by the Unions of the
Trelleborg Group (PTK).

Holdings: 570 shares (own and
family members) and 3,500
convertible debentures1).

Born: 1946. Appointed to Board,
2001.

ROLF LARSSON
Deputy employee
representative.

Elected by the Unions of the
Trelleborg Group (SIF).

Holdings: 500 convertible
debentures1).

Born: 1942. Appointed to Board,
2002.

KARIN LINSJÖ
Employee representative.

Elected by the Unions of the
Trelleborg Group (LO).

Holdings: 167 shares and 110
convertible debentures1).

Born: 1954. Appointed to Board,
2000.

All holdings valid as at January 1, 2003.

1) Each convertible debenture entitles the holder to convert to 1,106 shares.

ALF SVENSSON
Authorized Public Accountant

KPMG Bohlins AB

Auditor since 1988.

Born: 1949.

Bo a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s
Members appointed by employees

Auditor Deputy auditor
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FREDRIK ARP
President and CEO.

Holdings: 51,549 shares and
120,000 call options3).

Born: 1953. Employed 1986-
1996, 1999.

PETER SUTER
President, Trelleborg
Building Systems.

Holding: 11,000 warrants1) and
70,000 call options.3)

Born: 1943: Employed 1991.

GERTRUD ANDERSSON
Senior Vice President,
Accounting & Control.

Holdings: 13,638 shares, 7,600
warrants,1)  19,400 convertible
debentures2) and 60,000 call
options.3)

Born: 1944. Employed 1963.

LARS OLOF NILSSON
Senior Vice President,
Group Treasury and
Business Development.

Holdings: 1,800 shares,
7,000 warrants1) and
60,000 call options.3)

Born: 1962. Employed 1988.

TORBJÖRN BRORSON
Group Environment Manager

Holding: 1,940 shares, 18,000
warrants1)  and 40,000 call
options3).

Born: 1951. Employed: 1998

GEORGE CAPLEA
President, Trelleborg
Automotive and Executive
Vice President Trelleborg
AB.

Holding: 18,000 warrants1) and
70,000 call options.3)

Born: 1950. Employed 1987.

MAURIZIO VISCHI
President, Trelleborg
Wheel Systems

Holdings: 3,000 warrants1)

and 60,000 call options3)

Born: 1955. Employed: 1999

BO JACOBSSON
Chief Financial Officer.

Holdings: 1,100 shares (own
and family members).

Born: 1951. Employed 2002.

CLAES JÖRWALL
Senior Vice President,
Taxes and Group
Structure.

Holdings: 473 shares (own
and family members), 7,600
warrants,1) 19,400 convertible
debentures2) and 60,000 call
options.3)

Born: 1953. Employed 1988.

MIKAEL BYSTRÖM
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Communications.

Holdings: 169 shares (own and
family members), 12,900
convertible debentures2) and
60,000 call options.3)

Born: 1961. Employed 1990.

SÖREN ANDERSSON
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources.

Holding: 10,000 convertible
debentures2) and 60,000 call
options.3)

Born: 1956. Employed 1998.

ULF GRADÉN
Chief Legal Counsel.

Holdings: 40, 000 call options3).

Born; 1954. Employed 2001.

GEORG BRUNSTAM
President, Trelleborg
Engineered Systems.

Holdings: 18,000 warrants1)

and 70,000 call options.3)

Born: 1957. Employed 1997.

Group Management
February 15, 2003

All holdings valid as at January 1, 2003.

1) Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase 1.11 shares.

2) Each convertible debenture entitles the holder to convert to 1.106 shares.

3) Exercise period October 1, 2002 to March 31, 2003. Exercise price: SEK 78.

Exercise period October 1, 2003 to March 31, 2004. Exercise price: SEK 86.

Exercise period October 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005. Exercise price: SEK 122.
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Calendar
Annual General Meeting April  24
Three-months interim report April, 24
Six-months interim report July 22
Nine-months interim report October 22
Preliminary report on 2003 operations February 5, 2004
2003 Annual Report March, 2004

Trelleborg Shareholder Information
Trelleborg regularly publishes information on the Group’s
development in Swedish and English. The Annual Report and
T-TIME, a magazine for all Group stakeholders, are distrib-
uted to all shareholders who wish to receive this information.

Trelleborg also offers services to shareholders via tele-
phone and e-mail. By calling a special telephone number
0410-670 09 or addressing info@trelleborg.com  interested
persons can receive answers to questions, order publications
and brochures, etc., as well as establish contacts with experts
in a specific field.

Information designed especially for shareholders – includ-
ing financial information, annuals reports issued since 1976,
recent press releases, stock exchange prices and T-TIMR maga-
zine, etc. –is available at www.trelleborg.com on the Internet.
Presentations of the Group’s business areas and products are
also available on these home pages.

Interim reports, annual reports, T-TIME and other
financial materials can be ordered from the Company at
the following addresses: Corporate Communications,
Trelleborg AB, Box 153, SE Trelleborg 231 22, Sweden,
Tel.: +46-410 670 09 / Fax: +46-410 427  63, e-mail:
info@trelleborg.com, www.trelleborg.com

Change of address
Changes of addresses of physical persons who are registered
as residents of Sweden are made automatically by the Swedish
Securities Register Center (VPC). No special notice has to
be given to KI, the institution that keeps track of shareholder
accounts, or to Trelleborg. The standard notification of
change of address made at a Swedish post office will suffice.

Please note that shareholders who have chosen not to
have their addresses updated automatically must themselves
notify KI. Shareholders whose holdings are registered in the
name of a trustee should notify the trustee as soon as possible
of any changes in their name, address or account number.
A special form for such notification is available at banks.

Other shareholders must give notice of changes of address
or account numbers to the Swedish Securities Register Center
(VPC AB ), Box 7822, SE 103 97, Stockholm, Sweden
(Tel.: +46-8 402 90 00).

Shareholders should state their personal ID number or
organization number when corresponding with the Center.

F inancial F inancial analysts and

Financial analysts who follow Trelleborg:

Alfred Berg Fondkommission
John Hermander (+46-8 723 60 55)

Bank AB JP Nordiska
Henrik Alveskog (+46-8 791 48 00)

CAI Chevreux
Karl-Johan Bonnevier (+44-723 51 00)

Carnegie Fondkommission
Johan Sjöberg (+46-8 676 87 55)

Deutsche Bank
Kenneth Toll (+46-8 463 55 00)

Enskilda Securities
Anders Trapp (+46-8 52 22 97 57)

Handelsbanken Capital Markets
Carl Holmquist, 08-701 35 76

Human Securities
Mattias Eriksson (+46-8 506 520 62)

Schroeder Salomon Smith Barney
Thomas Besson (+33-1 707 554 91)

Swedbank Markets
Mats Liss (+46-8 585 912 02)

Investor Relations

Bo Jacobsson, Chief Financial Officer
Tel.: +46-410 670 99, Fax: +46-410 137 45,
Mobile: 070-685 6560
e-mail: bo.jacobsson@trelleborg.com

Mikael Byström, Senior Vice President, Corporate
Communications
Tel.: +46-410 670 37, Fax: +46-410 427 63,
Mobile: +46-708 55 21 69
e-mail: mikael.bystroem@trelleborg.com

Viktoria Bergman, Vice President, Corporate
Communications
Tel.: +46-410 670 94, Fax: +46-410 102 61,
Mobile: +46-708 47 57 33
e-mail: viktoria.bergman@trelleborg.com

Information Investor Relations
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Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Trelleborg AB (publ) will be

held at 3.00 p.m. Thursday, April 24, 2003 in Söderslätts-

hallen in Trelleborg, Sweden.

Program
1.00 p.m. Registration and light

refreshments
2.15 p.m. Meeting hall opens
3.00 p.m. AGM commences

Notification
Shareholders who wish to participate
and vote in the Meeting must be entered
in the share register maintained by
VPC AB by Monday, April 14, 2003,
at the latest, and notify the Company
of their intention to participate – possi-
bly with an assistant – by no later than
3.00 p.m. on Wednesday, April 16,
2003.

Shareholders whose shares have
been registered in the name of a trustee,
must have temporarily re-registered the
shares in their own name by no later
than April 14, 2003. Such registration
should be requested of the trustee a
couple of working days in advance of
this date.

Notification of participation in
the Annual General Meeting
should be sent to:

• Trelleborg AB, Legal Department,
Box 153, SE-231 22 Trelleborg,
Sweden

• by e-mail to:
anmalan.stamma@trelleborg.com

• by fax to: +46 (0) 410-439 72

• by telephone to: +46 (0) 410-670
31, or 670 25, or 670 00

• via our website:
www.trelleborg.com

The notification should state the
shareholder’s full name, personal iden-
tity number and telephone number. If
participation is through an authorized
representative, the proxy and – if the
authorized representative is a legal entity
– an authenticated registration certifi-
cate, or other document showing the
signatory’s authorization, must be sent
to the company prior to the Meeting.

Dividend
The Board of Directors and the Presi-
dent proposes that shareholders be paid
a dividend of SEK 4:25 per share.

Tuesday, April 29, 2003, is proposed
as the date of record. If the Meeting
approves the proposal, the dividend will
be remitted by VPC AB on Monday,
May 5, 2003.

Owing to the technical procedures
required to effect the dividend payment,
the record date and the dividend pay-
ment date could be changed to later
dates.



Solid strategic platform
Trelleborg’s operations are based on four
strategic cornerstones that also serve as guide-
lines for the Group’s continued expansion:

•focused operations

•leading positions within attractive
segments

•decentralized organization

•strongly results-oriented

This is Trelleborg
Trelleborg is a global industrial group that develops and manufac-

tures products based mainly on the many areas of application for

rubber. The Group has approximately 15,000 employees in 40 coun-

tries. The head office is located in Trelleborg, Sweden. Trelleborg’s

President and CEO is Fredrik Arp and Anders Narvinger is Board

Chairman.

Trelleborg was founded in 1905 and during the company’s long

history it has built up a unique spearhead competence within the

field of polymer materials and their areas of application. In recent

years, Trelleborg’s operations have been successfully concentrated

to four core industrial business areas within which the Group’s

knowledge of customer requirements and polymer technology is a

common strength factor. Today, operations focus on customers in the

automotive industry and in the construction and infrastructure sectors.

Trelleborg strives to achieve market leadership within clearly defined

product and market areas. Today, approximately 80% of sales from

core operations derives from products with leading (first, second,

third) positions.

Trelleborg Building Systems
Provides products for sealing and insulation
applications in primarily the European building
market, but also the consumer market.
Read more on page 34.

Trelleborg Automotive
Focuses on noise- and vibration-damping
products and systems for primarily the
global automotive industry, a sector in
which Trelleborg is a world leader.
Read more on page 20.

Trelleborg Wheel Systems
Active within two segments: solid tires for
heavy-lift trucks and other materials-handling
equipment, and special tires for the farm
and forest machine markets.
Read more on page 26.

S ummar y
The Trel leborg Group

Trelleborg Engineered
Systems
Supplies industrial fluid systems and engi-
neered solutions to several market seg-
ments, including the infrastructure, oil and
offshore markets. Read more on page 30.
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Consumer profiles •
Industrial profiles •
Rubber membranes •

Industrial hose •
Industrial hose
– distribution •
Marine fenders • • •
Rubber sheeting •
Dredging hose systems • • •
Tunnel seals • •
Chemical-resistant suits • • •

Agricultural tires •
Solid industrial tires • • •

Automotive AVS • • •
Industrial AVS • • •
Brake shims • • •
Boots • • •

The Trel leborg Group wor ldwide

Addresses

Group Center
Trelleborg AB (publ)
P.O. Box 153
SE-231 22 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 2
Phone: +46 410–670 00
Fax: +46 410–427 63
Internet: www.trelleborg.com
e-mail: info@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Treasury
P.O. Box 7365
SE-103 90 Stockholm
Street address: Norrlandsgatan 20
Phone: +46 8– 440 35 00
Fax: +46 8–440 35 48
e-mail: treasury@trelleborg.com

Group Center

• Trelleborg Automotive

• Trelleborg Wheel Systems

• Trelleborg Engineered Systems

• Trelleborg Building Systems

Business areas
Trelleborg Automotive
400 Aylworth Avenue
US-South Haven, MI 49090, USA
Phone: +1 (1) 616 637 2116
Fax: +1 (1) 616 637 8315
e-mail: automotive@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Wheel Systems
Via Naz, Tiburtina, 143
IT-00010 Villa Adriana (Roma), Italy
Phone: +39 0774 38 41
Fax: +39 0774 38 48 02
e-mail: wheel.systems@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Engineered Systems
SE-231 81 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 1
Phone: +46 410–510 00
Fax: +46 410–71 15 21
e-mail: engineered.systems@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg Building Systems
SE-231 81 Trelleborg
Street address: Henry Dunkers gata 1
Phone: +46 410–510 00
Fax: +46 410–189 81
e-mail: building.systems@trelleborg.com

Based on its extensive knowledge of polymer technolo-
gy, markets and customers, Trelleborg develops, manu-
factures and markets functionally oriented products,
systems and services.

Objective
Trelleborg’s goal is to capture leading
positions and create economies of scale
within the areas of research and develop-
ment, production, marketing and service.

Vision

Business
   concept

The Trelleborg share
Trelleborg’s B shares have been traded on the A List
of Stockholmsbörsen since 1964.

Trelleborg’s vision is to be one of the leading global engineering
companies within primarily the polymer area by offering:

•its customers products, systems and services of the highest
total value

•its employees a stimulating work environment in which to develop

•its shareholders a favorable long-term return on their investment

business areas

* Core operations   ** Core operations, excluding Group-wide expenses.

Net sales by geographic market

Sales and operating profit Return on shareholders’ equity Earnings per share
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Trelleborg AB (publ), P.O. Box 153, SE-231 22 Trelleborg, Sweden
Phone: +46 410 670 00 • Fax: +46 410 427 63

E-mail: info@trelleborg.com
Internet: www.trelleborg.com Tr
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Internet
You are welcome to study the latest information
about the Trelleborg Group and its operations at:
www.trelleborg.com

More information about Trelleborg AB
You can order printed information materials by calling +46 (0) 410-670 09, or by e-mailing info@trelleborg.com

Trelleborg AB will provide the following financial
information in financial year 2003
Interim report January-March April 24
Interim report January-June July 22
Interim report January-September October 22
Preliminary year-end report for 2003 February 5, 2004
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Trelleborg AB is a public limited liability company. Corporate identity number: 556006-3421.

This is a translation of the company’s definitive Annual Report for 2002 in Swedish.

Unless otherwise stated, figures in parentheses relate to the 2001 fiscal year. Swedish

kronor (SEK) is used throughout the Report. The abbreviation “K” has been used to

denote thousands of SEK, while “M” has been used to denote millions of SEK.

Sustainability Report
A comprehensive report
about Trelleborg’s work in
the sustainability area.

T-TIME
Trelleborg’s stakeholders’
magazine T-Time is published
four times per year.


